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ABSTRACT

The role of lawyers in British North American society became much more
important in the 1820s and 1830s than it had been in the early period of settlement.
Understanding this role has been hampered by a dearth of empirical work on the functions
and day-to-day activities of the "average" lawyer, who attained neither high political office
nor the bench. The professional and public life of Halifax lawyer Beamish Murdoch
(1800-1876) is examined, principally in the pre-1850 period, with this goal in mind.
Three themes are stressed: the lawyer as professional, the lawyer as intellectual leader
and cultural figure, and the lawyer as economic actor. Murdoch’s apprenticeship and
professional life are examined in the period 1814-1850 against a backdrop of significant
change within the profession. A detailed reconstruction of Murdoch’s legal practice in
terms of clientele, income, types of legal services rendered and organization of work sheds
light on the making of a colonial lawyer.

Murdoch’s extensive writings on legal and non-legal themes, and his contributions
to political and community life, illustrate the many leadership roles he sought, with
varying degrees of success. His example suggests that the leadership roles of lawyers
were closely intertwined with their professional success, and required that they be visible
and active members of their communities. Particular attention is devoted to two areas in
which Murdoch sought to exercise cultural or political leadership: the attempt of this
"patriot jurist” to articulate a provincial identity through the analysis of Nova Scotia law
and legal culture which he provided in his Epitome of the Laws of Nova-Scotia (1832-
33); and his principled resistance to the coming of responsible government.

Lawyers are considered as economic actors by examining the growth and dispersal
of the provincial bar during the crucial decades 1820-1840, when the number of lawyers
in Nova Scotia tripled as the population doubled. The fact that the vast majority of
lawyers were able to remain professionally active for a significant portion of their lives
suggests that their services were increasingly in demand as economic activity in the
province took on more complex forms. As lawyers penetrated rural society, they became
unwitting agents of modernization as they gradually undermined the authority of the local
magnates who sat on the county bench.

To judge from Murdoch’s example, British North American lawyers were neither
the rapacious vultures depicted in some contemporary anti-lawyer literature, nor the saints
portrayed in some professional biographies. The "clean," independent and intellectual
nature of their work made them early exemplars of middle-class status, while the demands
of securing a clientele forced them to become actively involved in the political, social and
economic development of their societies.
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PATRIOT JURIST: BEAMISH MURDOCH OF HALIFAX, 1800-1876

Introduction

Lawyers have long loomed large in the history of British North America.
Traditional historiography, oriented to the study of politics and political élites, could
hardly fail to note the predominance of lawyers in colonial life, whether as office-holders
and supporters of early colonial governments or as participants in the reform movement
which led to responsible government. Those lawyers who went on to be judges of the
superior courts, especially those of the pre-responsible government period, received special
attention from early historian-biographers which resulted in numerous individual and
collective studies.! Both of these trends continue today in various ways, whether in the
form of entries for the Dictionary of Canadian Biography, in the study of particular
offices such as that of attorney general, or in the renewed study of judicial biography

from more critical and enlarged perspectives.’

"Multiplying examples would serve no useful purpose. For the crowning achievement
of this type of study in the Maritimes, see J.W. Lawrence, The Judges of New Brunswick
and Their Times (1907), ed. by D.G. Bell (Fredericton: Acadiensis Press, 1985). For a
review of early twentieth-century Nova Scotian efforts at judicial biography, see Philip
Girard, "The Supreme Court of Nova Scotia, Responsible Government and the Quest for
Legitimacy, 1850-1920," Dalhousie Law Journal 17 (1994), pp. 440-444.

?Paul Romney, Mr. Attorney: the Attorney General for Ontario in Court, Cabinet, and
Legislature 1791-1899 (Toronto: University of Toronto Press for the Osgoode Society,

1986); Clara Greco, "The Superior Court Judiciary of Nova Scotia, 1754-1900: A
Collective Biography,” in Philip Girard and Jim Phillips, eds., Essays in the History of

1
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By the 1960s the traditional approach to lawyers in colonial British North America

was no longer in favour, as the social history revolution directed attention to new topics
and methodologies. The very study of lawyers came to seem élitist as the history of
women, workers and marginalized groups emerged as major subjects of inquiry. Insofar
as lawyers continued to be studied, it was as members of social and economic élites and
builders of middle-class hegemony. In contrast to the hagiographical aura of earlier
studies, this approach was distinctly unsympathetic to lawyers. Their role was described
as parasitic, that of "paid agents of an economic system, entrenched in law, that
discriminated against agrarian smallholders and left them at the mercy of the merchant
and the moneylender.” A rich vein of colonial anti-lawyer sentiment could be invoked
in support of this position. Whatever its impact on the study of lawyers, a major effect
of this literature on the study of legal history was to direct attention away from the
superior courts and towards the inferior courts, where the bulk of the population

conducted their litigation or came into contact with the enforcement of the criminal law.

Canadian Law. vol. ITII. Nova Scotia (Toronto: University of Toronto Press for the
Osgoode Society, 1990), pp. 42-79; Gordon Bale, Chief Justice William Johnstone
Ritchie: Responsible Government and Judicial Review (Ottawa: Carleton University

Press, 1991); Patrick Brode, Sir_John Beverley Robinson: Bone and Sinew of the
Compact (Toronto: University of Toronto Press for the Osgoode Society, 1984).

*Paul Romney, "From the Types Riot to the Rebellion: Elite Ideology, Anti-Legal
Sentiment, Political Violence, and the Rule of Law in Upper Canada, Ontario History 79
(1987), pp. 113-44 at p. 177. For arebuttal, see Colin Read, "Conflict to Consensus: the
Political Culture of Upper Canada,” Acadiensis 19 (1990), pp. 169-85.

“Michael S. Cross, "“The Laws Are Like Cobwebs’: Popular Resistance to Authority
in Mid-Nineteenth Century British North America," in P.B. Waite et al,, eds., Law in a
Colonial Society: The Nova Scotia Experience (Toronto: Carswell, 1984), pp. 114-115;
Greg Marquis, "Anti-Lawyer Sentiment in Mid-Victorian New Brunswick," University of
New Brunswick Law Journal 36 (1987), pp. 163-174.
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Inspired largely by developments within sociology, a new framework for studying

lawyers emerged in the 1970s and 80s: the historical process of professionalization. By
this point Canadian legal history was beginning to emerge from the shadows, and a
curious division of labour evolved. Social historians leapt eagerly to the study of the
clergy, the military, the medical profession, teachers and nurses, using the new paradigm
of professionalization, but the study of the legal profession remained largely within the
law faculties until very recently.’ Two major studies of the legal profession have been
conceived within neither a history department nor a law faculty. Two scholars working
in a faculty of education, R.D. Gidney and W.P.J. Millar, have produced a major study
of the medical, legal and clerical professions in nineteenth-century Ontario, while an
independent historian, Christopher Moore, has written the bicentenary history of The Law
Society of Upper Canada and Ontario’s Lawyers, 1797-1997.° A major point which
emerges from this historical literature is that within the general trend towards

professionalization in Western society, there has been much diversity of experience at the

SMost of this literature, Canadian and international, is surveyed in R.D. Gidney and
W.P.J. Millar, Professional Gentlemen: The Professions in Nineteenth-Century Ontario
(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1994). For the legal profession specifically, see
W. Wesley Pue, "Trajectories of Professionalism? Professionalism after Abel," Manitoba
Law Journal 19 (1990), pp. 384-418. For all the themes surveyed in this introduction,
useful comparative perspectives can be found in the essays by Robert Gordon (on the
United States) and David Sugarman (on England) in Carol Wilton, ed., Beyond the Law:
Lawyers and Business in Canada, 1830-1930 (Toronto: Osgoode Society, 1990). Both

papers range far beyond the "lawyers and business” theme.

S(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1997). It must be emphasized that this work
is not the kind of adulatory commemorative history often produced for such occasions,
but a major scholarly study of a long-understudied institution enriched by constant
reference to the legal profession as a whole and its place within Ontario society.
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level of specific professions which must be taken seriously, such that abstract models must
be employed with great caution. A major example within the legal profession is the
resistance of the benchers of the Law Society of Upper Canada to the introduction of
university legal education for over half a century after it had been accepted as the norm
elsewhere in North America for law and many other professions.

Within the Canadian literature on lawyers and professionalization, changing forms
of legal education have been the principal focus of inquiry.” The shift from professional
etiquette supplemented by judicial control as 2 mode of ordering, to modemn statutory-
based schemes of lawyerly self-regulation, has also been investigated.® Much of this
work has been regionally specific, and no national synthesis has yet emerged.” Work on
lawyers and the legal profession in the early colonial period has tended to confirm the
existence of highly particularistic patterns of organic ideas and ordering in each colony,
within a broad commitment to that elastic concept, "British justice." The slow

homogenization of the provincial bars in the wake of Confederation, the role of the

"Works of relevance to the colonial period include D.G.Bell, Legal Education in New
Brunswick: A History (Fredericton: University of New Brunswick, 1992), and G. Blaine
Baker, "Legal Education in Upper Canada, 1785-1889: The Law Society as Educator,"
in David H. Flaherty, ed., Essays in the History of Canadian Law, vol. II (Toronto:
University of Toronto Press for the Osgoode Society, 1983), pp. 49-142. Legal education
is a major theme of both Gidney and Millar, Professional Gentlemen and Moore, Law
Society, but both focus more on post-1850 developments in tais regard.

8Bell, Legal Education in New Brunswick, passim; Philip Girard, "The Roots of a
Professional Renaissance: Lawyers in Nova Scotia, 1850-1910," Manitoba Law Journal

20 (1991), pp. 148-180; Gidney and Millar, Professional Gentlemen, pp. 70-84; Moore,
Law Society.

91t should be noted that Moore’s Law Society, although a study of Ontario lawyers,
is well grounded in the growing literature on lawyers and the legal profession in other
Canadian jurisdictions.
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Canadian Bar Association (established in 1914), and the increasing popularity of

university legal education in the twentieth century in creating what is now in substance
a Canadian legal profession, has yet to be investigated.'’

At times as an approach to the theme of professionalization, and at times
independently of it, recent work on the history of lawyers and the law in British North
America has been influenced significantly by developments in cultural and intellectual
history. To the extent that there are debates within what is still a relatively young
literature, they have been largely around the nature of the mentalité of nineteenth-century
lawyers in Upper Canada. Blaine Baker has suggested that the élite lawyers of old Upper
Canada saw themselves as a divinely-anointed group largely unaccountable to the normal
processes of the law, while Paul Romney has forcefully challenged this view."" A
second question has been the extent to which the late Victorian legal profession was

responsible for an alleged intellectual disruption, in which the innovative and indigenous

0 See, however, HW. Arthurs and D.A. Stager, Lawyers in Canada (Toronto:
University of Toronto Press, 1990).

'1G. Blaine Baker, "‘So Elegant a Web’: Providential Order and the Role of Secular
Law in Early Nineteenth-Century Upper Canada," University of Toronto Law Journal 38
(1988), pp. 187-205. David Howes, "Property, God and Nature in the Thought of John
Beverley Robinson,"” McGill Law Journal 30 (1985), pp. 365-414. Paul Romney, "Very
Late Loyalist Fantasies: Nostalgic Tory History and the Rule of Law in Upper Canada,"
in W. Wesley Pue and Barry Wright, eds., Canadian Perspectives on Law and Society:
Issues in Legal History (Ottawa: Carleton University Press, 1988), pp. 119-147; "From
Constitutionalism to Legalism: Trial by Jury, Responsible Government, and the Rule of
Law in the Canadian Political Culture," Law and History Review 7 (1989), pp. 121-174.
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elements of the colonial past were disparaged and forgotten in a headlong scramble to
embrace imperial legal ideals which were of limited relevance in the Canadian context."”

Most recently, the role of lawyers in the economy has attracted attention, in the
form of two book-length studies sponsored by the Osgoode Society. The earlier of these,
Beyond the Law, looks specifically at the role of lawyers as entrepreneurs and at links
between lawyers and business.”” The second, Inside the Law, is a history of law firms
in Canada, which concentrates primarily on the involvement of law firms with corporate
law and with particular corporate clients in the twentieth century, and secondarily on
changing patterns of recruitment, promotion and management within law firms."* In
both of these works, the focus is very much on the post-1850 period. The role of lawyers
in the economy is also a major theme of Moore’s bicentenary history of the Law Society
of Upper Canada.

This study of a single lawyer considers its subject from all three perspectives just
identified: lawyers as professionals, lawyers as generators of ideas and contributors to
intellectual and cultural history, and lawyers as economic actors. The wider focus is pre-
1850 Nova Scotia, in particular the maturity and decay of the old regime as it faced and

ultimately succumbed to the challenge represented by the movement for responsible

12G. Blaine Baker, "The Reconstitution of Upper Canadian Legal Thought in the Late-
Victorian Empire," Law and History Review 3 (1985), pp. 219-292.

3Wilton, ed., Beyond the Law.

14Carol Wilton, ed., Inside the Law: Canadian Law Firms in Historical Perspective
(Toronto: University of Toronto Press for the Osgoode Society, 1996).
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government.' In contrast to most earlier studies, the ideological resistance to responsible
government is taken seriously. More generally, by situating its subject in the context of
his community, his profession, and his "times,” I attempt to show how the study of
lawyers can enrich colonial social history.

Halifax native Beamish Murdoch (1800-1875) was chosen for both thematic and
documentary reasons. His life illustrates all three themes referred to above, and his own
writings and the sources which survive from his law practice permit a more detailed
examination of those themes than would be possible for most other lawyers of this period.
Although biographical in form, this is not a traditional biography. It does not examine
to any great extent the psychological development of its subject, and is more a "career of”
Beamish Murdoch than a "life." Chapter One examines Murdoch’s ancestry mainly to
point out his ambiguous position in the highly status-conscious society which was early
nineteenth-century Nova Scotia. Chapter Two considers in detail a lengthy lawsuit which

involved his extended family throughout his entire youth, both to provide some context

ISThe relevant chapters in Phillip A. Buckner and John G. Reid, The Atlantic Region
to Confederation: A History (Toronto and Fredericton: University of Toronto Press and
Acadiensis Press, 1994) provide invaluable historical context. Particularly useful for this
study have been the chapters on the 1800s by Graeme Wynn, the 1810s by D.A.
Sutherland, the 1820s by Judith Fingard, the 1830s by Rosemary E. Ommer, the 1840s
by T.W. Acheson and the 1850s by Ian Ross Robertson. Still useful is W.S. MacNutt,
The Atlantic Provinces: the Emergence of Colonial Society, 1712-1857 (Toronto:
McClelland and Stewart, 1965). For the legal and constitutional context, see D.G. Bell,
"Maritime Legal Institutions under the Ancien Régime, 1710-1850," Manitoba Law
Journal 23 (1995), pp. 103-131. J.M. Beck, Joseph Howe, 2 vols. (Montreal and
Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 1982-83) is indispensable on the movement
towards responsible government.
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for Murdoch’s deep commitment to the unreformed colonial legal order, and to make
some suggestions about the nature and function of civil litigation in colonial society.

One of the features which makes lawyers difficult to study is the seemingly
protean nature of their involvements, both historically and at the present day. In addition
to mastering their chosen profession, lawyers often play important roles in politics and
contribute to the development of political ideas, work as office-holders or civil servants,
scrve as leaders of voluntary societies and reform movements, appear in religious
controversies, contribute to the arts as authors and journalists, act as spokespersons for
various economic interests and become directly involved in business enterprises outside
their law practices. Not all lawyers did all these things, but a surprising number of
colonial lawyers functioned in many of these capacities over the course of a lifetime.
Beamish Murdoch, for example, participated in all of the above activities, and his identity
as a professional lawyer -- "one of the fraternity,” in the contemporary phrase -- both
subsumed and was a function of all of them.

What is often missing in studies of the profession and of individual lawyers is
precisely the many-faceted nature of their activities. It has recently been suggested in the
context of the early twentieth-century Montreal bar that the wide range of lawyers’ non-
legal activities was an important factor which allowed them to exercise power and

influence.'® One of the goals of this study is to examine the life of a lawyer who came

'$Dominique Marquis, "Une élite mal connue: les avocats dans la société montréalaise
au tournant du XXe siécle,” Recherches sociographiques 36 (1995), pp. 307-325. Such
an argument has even more force in the colonial period, when the line between a lawyer’s
"legal" and "non-legal" activities is more difficult to draw.
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before the public eye in many capacities, but not primarily as a politician or a judge, in
order to develop some idea of the public perception of lawyers and to understand better
the synergies created by their many roles. In spite of the seeming prevalence of anti-
lawyer sentiment in British North America, the colonial population needed and expected
lawyers to assume a variety of leadership roles, and not just those in the political sphere.
In the colonial period the role of lawyer included ideals of statesmanship, scholarship and
gentlemanly behaviour. At some level most colonial lawyers tried to include all three as
part of their professional "image.” This theme is thus integrated into the entire thesis,
although it features most prominently in Chapters Three, Five and Six, which examine
Murdoch’s apprenticeship and the first two decades of his law practice.

If Beamish Murdoch’s "professional” involvements were protean in nature, it is not
surprising that his contributions to intellectual and cultural life also covered many fields.
To some extent all chapters of this thesis consider this theme. The formative influence
of his Anglo-Irish Uniacke patrons on the young Murdoch is explored in Chapter Three.
Murdoch’s political ideas as an opponent of responsible government are explored in
Chapter Seven. The fact that his stance would appear to have been contrary to his
material and promotional interests directs us to the role of ideas in political debate, and
more generally in colonial society as a whole. It is argued that Murdoch’s aversion to
political reform was rooted in his convictions about the transcendent rightness of
traditional British ideas about the constitution, and his belief that civic virtue could never

flourish under a party system.
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Chapter Eight is a study of Murdoch’s contribution to literature, legal letters, and
provincial history, but focuses primarily on his four-volume Epitome of the Laws of
Nova-Scotia (1832-33). The Epitome, labelled by David Bell as "the apogee for the

nl7

whole nineteenth century [of] lawyerly literary achievement in the Maritimes,"” * provides
a uniquely comprehensive overview of the substantive law, legal institutions and legal
culture of the colonial legal order on the eve of the achievement of responsible
government.ls In the days before law reporting and legal periodicals, both of which
effectively began in British North America only in the 1850s, uncovering evidence of how
lawyers thought about their profession and about the law is a difficult task. They
accepted the law as a kind of cultural given, upon which it was not necessary to elaborate.
When rhetorical emphasis was required, as in legislative debates, lawyers’ views tended
to be hidden behind stock phrases such as "the rights of Englishmen” and "Brtish
justice."?® It is mainly in private papers that one gets the occasional glimpse of their
opinions on these subjects. The Epitome, as a statement of one lawyer’s reflections on

the organization of the substantive law, the relationship of colonial law to English law,

17Bell, "Maritime Legal Institutions,” p. 124.

'8See generally Philip Girard, "Themes and Variations in Early Canadian Legal
Culture: Beamish Murdoch and his Epitome of the Laws of Nova-Scotia,” Law and
History Review 11 (1993), pp. 101-144.

'9This is not to say that these phrases and the worldview which subtends them cannot
usefully be explored. See Greg Marquis, "Doing Justice to "British Justice’: Law,
Ideology and Canadian Historiography,” in W. Wesley Pue and Barry Wright, eds.,
Canadian Perspectives on Law and Society: Issues in Legal History (Ottawa: Carleton
University Press, 1988), pp. 43-69, and his "In Defence of Liberty: 17th-Century England
and 19th-Century Maritime Political Culture,” University of New Brunswick Law Journal
42 (1993), pp. 69-94.
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the position of the native people and many other topics, is thus a document of some
significance.

Uniting all aspects of Murdoch’s cultural endeavours was his concern to delineate
a Nova Scotian identity; it is in this sense that the word "patriot” is used in the title of this
thesis. In all such attempts, description and prescription are almost impossible to separate,

and Murdoch’s oeuvre is no exception. His attempt in the Epitome to uncover a Nova

Scotian identity secreted in the interstices of the colony’s laws and legal institutions
"ranks with Judge Haliburton’s literary effusions," according to one commentator, "as
impressive evidence of emergent self-confidence in the region."*® It is worth adding that
Murdoch’s views on the Nova Scotia identity as expressed in the Epitome are much
fresher and more nuanced than those which can be inferred from his History of Nova
Scotia, or Acadie, published over thirty years later.

The historical value of the Epitome would be much lessened if its author had been
a theoretical lawyer with limited knowledge of the law’s practical side. But Murdoch was
a typical lawyer of his day, neither the most nor the least successful of his peers.
Recognized as a leader of the bar, and still practising law well into his sixties, albeit part-
time, Murdoch was by no means the best-paid member of his profession. His account-
books reveal the painstaking process of building up a clientele as a sole practitioner, the

long steady climb to financial independence for those young entrants of the 1820s and 30s

who had no ready-made network of business contacts through kin or social position.

2Bell, "Maritime Legal Institutions,” p. 125.
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Even those with such advantages could find law practice a hard row to hoe during the

early years.

The primary sources documenting Murdoch’s professional career from the
beginning of his apprenticeship in 1814 until his retirement in the 1860s are, while not
unique, certainly far from cormon for this early period.?' Chapters Five and Six use
these sources to develop the third theme of this study, the lawyer as economic actor, by
means of a detailed analyis of the growth of Murdoch’s clientele (both numerically and
in terms of gender and social status), the changing variety of services he provided, and
his professional income, over the first two decades of his professional career. The
prevalence of "small" clients, mainly artisans and small tradesmen and their widows, in
the early years of Murdoch’s career, and their continuing presence thereafter, provides a
more complex picture of the role of lawyers in their communities than has hitherto been
available. Lawyers seem to have provided a range of services to all but the very poor and
the lowest echelon of day labourers, not just to the propertied.

The study covers primarily the period between 1815 and 1850, with some
excursions before and after that date for limited purposes. Although Beamish Murdoch
continued to practise law after the achievement of responsible government, and indeed to

adapt to it, he will always be associated with the unreformed colonial constitution.

21gimilar documentation exists for William Young, who was much more successful,
in financial, political, and professional terms, than his contemporary Beamish Murdoch.
Young’s legal and business career would repay study, but his attainment of the offices of
attorney general, provincial premier and chief justice were counter-indications for the
purposes of this thesis, which sought to examine the career of an "ordinary” lawyer closer
to the professional mean.
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Responsible government resulted in some discontinuities within both the legal profession
and provincial law, which are better explored in a different context. Thus Murdoch’s
career as Recorder of the City of Halifax (1850-1860) is noticed but not examined in any
detail, although the experience with city government after incorporation in 1841 would
certainly repay study.? Chapter Nine closes the thesis with a brief consideration of
Murdoch’s later years.

The career of a single lawyer in any historical period can only be assessed with
reference to the activities of his or her peers. Thus this individual study is complemented
by a detailed quantitative study of lawyers in Nova Scotia from 1800 to 1840, with
particular reference to the third and fourth decades of the century, when the size and
movements of the bar can be calculated with a high degree of accuracy. This twenty-year
period also comprises the first two, and most crucial, decades of Murdoch’s legal practice.
While it is generally known that these two decades witnessed an exponential increase in
the numbers of lawyers in the Maritimes, in no British North American colony have the
numbers or geographic movements of the bar been documented with any precision.”

It is with reference to these general developments within the legal profession that
the role of lawyers as key social and economic actors in colonial society can best be
appreciated. The argument outlined in Chapter Four is that the steady spread of lawyers

to all communities of any size in mainland Nova Scotia by 1830 helped to undermine the

2Cf T.W. Acheson, Saint John: The Making of a Colonial Urban Community
(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1985).

BGidney and Millar, Professional Gentlemen, begin serious quantitative study only
in 1851, when the first census reports become available.
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traditional sources of local authority, the lay magistrates of the county bench and the

justices of the peace. In retrospect, the rapid spread of lawyers after 1820 illustrates just
how dispensable they were prior to that date, at least outside Halifax, where local
communities were largely self-governing. The arrival of the lawyers coincided with a
shift away from deference, custom and virtue in rural society, and towards equality,
legality and accountability as the touchstones of social order.

This suggestion will be counter-intuitive to those who see lawyers simply as
members of "local élites,"” which they certainly were. One must account, however, for the
transformation of the basis of élite influence from birth and status to professional
qualifications of one kind or another, which one sees everywhere in British North
America by the last quarter of the nineteenth century. Shifts within élites, generated by
wider social movements, must therefore be addressed. The rise of lawyers within colonial
society should be studied as part of the movement towards responsible government and,
more broadly, towards modernity. The "rise of professional society” is a theme which
deserves more emphasis in the history of the Atlantic region than it has hitherto
obtained.?* It is largely absent in the impressive synthesis represented by the volumes
on the pre- and post-Confederation history of the region recently published by Acadiensis

Press.® A major reason for studying the professions in the Atlantic region is their

2Harold Perkins, The Rise of Professional Society: England since 1880 (London:
Routledge, 1989). For some suggestive insights on this theme in the Canadian context,

see Marquis, "Une élite mal connue.”

“Buckner and Reid, The Atlantic Region to Confederation, and E.R. Forbes and D.A.
Muise, eds., The Atlantic Provinces in Confederation (Toronto and Fredericton:
University of Toronto Press and Acadiensis Press, 1993). See however Brian
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relatively greater attraction as vehicles for middle-class advancement in an area where
careers in business have traditionally been more difficult to establish. It is perhaps no
coincidence that professional reform initiatives of national significance, such as the
founding of the Dalhousie Law School in 1883, have emanated from the Atlantic region.

Pursuit of this theme, however, will push us far beyond the chronological limits
of this thesis. Whatever historical appeal the study of the professions in the Atlantic
region may have, analysis must begin in the colonial period. While existing scholarship
has suggested important discontinuities in the history of the legal profession after the
achievement of responsible government,’ there were also continuities, but the impact

of both on later developments must remain a topic for future research.

Cuthbertson, Johnny Bluenose at the Polls: Epic Nova Scotian Election Battles 1758-1848
(Halifax: Formac, 1994), pp. 11-13 on the changing role of lawyers in Nova Scotia’s

social structure.

*Girard, "Professional Renaissance." A similar theme is explored in D.G. Bell,
"Judicial Crisis in Post-Confederation New Brunswick," Manitoba Law Journal 20 (1991),
pp. 181-195.



Chapter One

Antecedents

Beamish Murdoch was born at Halifax on 1 August 1800.' He was unusual
among non-Acadian European Nova Scotians of the day in having not only both parents
born in the province, but also two locally-born grandmothers. Amelia Ott (Mason)
Beamish and Abigail (Saiter) Murdoch were both born at Halifax in the 1750s. Murdoch
was raised by his grandmother Beamish after the early death of his mother, and it was she
and her daughters who inspired his attachment to his birthplace and his interest in its
history. In a society where kinship counted for so much, a study of Beamish Murdoch’s
ancestry is necessary to set the successes and failures of his later career in context.
Murdoch’s attempt to use but also to transcend the ties of kinship, and to link his public
persona to representation of a recognizably middle-class interest, is a central theme in his

life.

'This is the date traditionally given, probably because it is inscribed on Murdoch’s
tombstone in Hillcrest Cemetery, Lunenburg, but there is no documentary proof for it.
The St. Paul’s baptismal records at N.S.A.R.M., mfm. reel 11553, show the baptism of
Benjamin Salter Beamish Murdoch on 14 February 1802, with the marginal notation "1
yr old." A more authoritative piece of evidence for a birthdate of late July or early
August is Murdoch’s admission as an attorney of the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia on
22 July 1821. By statute, a man could only be admitted an attorney on reaching majority.
Murdoch completed his apprenticeship in November 1819, and it was only the attaining
of his majority that delayed his admission as an attorney by nearly two years. So
scrupulously observed was the requirement of majority, that it is doubtful that Murdoch
would have been admitted even ten days before his twenty-first birthday. However, such
a slight relaxation of the rule is possible.

16
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Despite the relative depth of Murdoch’s New World roots, the Old World was

equally important to his identity, especially in his early years. Both his grandfathers had
emigrated from Ireland to Nova Scotia in the 1760s, and his Irish ethnicity was an
important feature of his public persona until roughly 1830, when Murdoch began to assert
a more embracive "Nova Scotian” identity. Some appreciation of his Irish roots will assist
in understanding these later developments. For Beamish Murdoch, Nova Scotia provided
an environment where the ethno-religious enmities of the Old World might be
transcended: civil equality and religious tolerance were two principal ingredients of the
Nova Scotian identity which he sought to fashion and publicize.

Benjamin Salter Beamish Murdoch, to give him his full name, was the only child
of Elizabeth Ott Beamish and Andrew Murdoch, who married at St. Paul’s on 29 October
17992 Their union would have been an unusual one in the Ireland from which their
fathers had come: Elizabeth’s father belonged to an Anglo-Irish family from County Cork
which adhered to the Church of Ireland, while Andrew was the son of a Scots-Irish
minister of the Secession Church from County Donegal. Although differing in religion,
the Beamish and Murdoch families shared a common experience as colonizers of Ireland.
Both families had been established in Ireland for about a century and a half before
emigrating to Nova Scotia. Both suffered during Ireland’s tumultuous seventeenth
century, but survived and prospered in the eighteenth.

The emigration of the Beamish and Murdoch families was not, so far as is known,

propelled by any dire economic circumstances at home. In this they represented what has

Royal Gazette and Nova Scotia Advertiser, S November 1799.
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recently been described as an entirely new phenomenon in the history of European
emigration, beginning in the 1760s. Emigration became less a collective response to
intolerable conditions at home by dissenters, alienated groups and the poor, and more an
act of choice by a more mobile and skilled population, moving within an Atlantic
economy.” This seems an apt characterization of the actions of both Murdoch’s
grandfathers. James Murdoch came to Nova Scotia as a missionary in response to appeals
from leaderless presbyterian congregations, but his arrival was really part of a larger
economic strategy which would see his father sell his farm in Ireland and attempt to re-
establish the family as linen producers in Nova Scotia. Thomas Beamish had the status
of "gentleman” in Ireland, and emigrated shortly after the sale of family lands provided
him with a certain amount of capital. He chose to come to Halifax, when he might have
gone to England, to the West Indies, or to some other North American colony.
Although their motivations for leaving Ireland were rather different, the
experiences of Beamish Murdoch’s grandfathers in Nova Scotia were quite similar. Both
emigrated as young men in their early twenties, married locally-born women who were
the daughters of men who had achieved a measure of local prominence, and had very
large families. After a period of initial success in their new environment, both suffered
severe financial setbacks which created serious strains for them and for their families. By
the late 1780s both had been compelled to surrender to creditors the premises upon which

they had established themselves, and to move to more marginal locations. Lack of

3L.M. Cullen, "The Irish Diaspora of the Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries," in

Nicholas Canny, ed. Europeans on the Move: Studies on European Migration, 1500-1800
(Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1994), at pp. 144-46.
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business acumen, the demands of raising large families, an extremely creditor-oriented
debt law, and the strains imposed on the provincial economy after the end of the war in
1783, all conspired to bring these men and their families close to complete financial ruin.
It would be left to the generations of their children and grandchildren to try and re-

establish their fortunes on a more secure basis, and in this they were generally successful.

The Murdoch family

James Murdoch was born about 1745 at Gillie Gordon (present-day Killygordon)
in County Donegal, the only son of a prosperous flax grower and linen producer, John
Murdoch and his wife Margaret Dryden. The family was originally Scottish, and
according to family tradition had been in Ireland for over a century at the time of the
Glorious Revolution of 1688.° Civil war ensued in Ireland in 1688-89 after James II was

deposed as King of England and Scotland but remained King of Ireland. In 1689 John

‘Much of what is known about the Murdoch family in Ireland comes from two
principal sources: the writings of Eliza Frame (1820-1904), a great-niece of the Rev.
James Murdoch and amateur historian, and a published compilation of family lore distilled
by W.J. Stairs and his wife Susan Stairs and published posthumously by their family.
Susan Stairs was Murdoch’s great-granddaughter, who learned much of the family
tradition from her grandmother, Susannah (Murdoch) Duffus. See [Eliza Frame],
Descriptive Sketches of Nova Scotia, in Prose and Verse, by a Nova Scotian (Halifax:
A. & W. McKinlay, 1864); "Rev. James Murdoch. 1767-1799," Collections of the Nova
Scotia Historical Society 2 (1881) 100; W.J. and Susan Stairs, comps., Family History.
Stairs, Morrow (Halifax: McAlpine Publishing, 1906). These sources must be used with
some caution since they are based on oral traditions which in many cases cannot be
authenticated by written documents. Where they can be so authenticated, they have
proved to be generally accurate.

SA settlement in the early decades of the seventeenth century, during the plantation
of Ulster by James I, seems more likely, given the major influx of Scottish Protestants at
that time.
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Murdoch’s grandfather (also John) was murdered by a gang of James II’s supporters,

known as "Rapparees,” allegedly for the support he provided to the Protestant cause
during the siege of Londonderry. Despite this setback the family prospered in the
eighteenth century, and acquired sufficient wealth to invest in books and education. John
Murdoch possessed a large library (which eventually followed him to Nova Scotia), and
sent his son James to the University of Edinburgh to study theology in 1759.5 After
some years there he studied at an Antiburgher theological hall in Scotland before returning
to Ireland. By this point he had become interested in emigrating to North America,
though probably not as a2 missionary to the Mi’kmagq, as recounted in family tradition.
In spite of offers from a number of parishes in Ulster, Murdoch remained firm in
his decision to leave Ireland. His need coincided with demands on the Irish presbytery
from the Scots-Irish inhabitants of Amherst and Truro, who in 1764 and 1765 petitioned
the church for a minister.” In September 1766, James Murdoch was ordained a minister

by the presbytery of Newton Limavady (Ulster) "for the Province of Nova Scotia or any

“The record of his matriculation in 1759 is held at the University of Edinburgh
Archives, but records for the 1760s have not survived. It was not usual for candidates for
the ministry to graduate from the University, and Murdoch did not do so (personal
communication from the Assistant Librarian, 17 September 1996).

"George Patterson, "Pioneers of Presbyterianism" (unpublished ms., c. 1870), MG 1,
vol. 742. Patterson insists that Murdoch was sent in response to the Amherst petition,
even though the inhabitants of Truro also petitioned the church in 1764 and 1765
according to James Robertson, History of the Mission of the Secession Church to Nova
Scotia and Prince Edward Island from its commencement in 1765 (Edinburgh: John
Johnstone, 1847), p. 20.
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other part of the American continent where God in his Providence might call him."®

Murdoch belonged to the Antiburgher wing of the Secession Church, which was the most
anti-authoritarian and evangelical of all the factions which had developed out of the
Church of Scotland as a result of various theological controversies.” All these rifts were
duly reproduced among the Scots-Irish settled in northern Ireland.

Murdoch arrived in Nova Scotia by the end of 1766 or early 1767. For a while
he preached to the dissenters who gathered at Mather’s Church in Halifax, but in the
summer he reached an agreement with a Horton congregation that he would "perform and
attend the Duties and Business of a Protestant Dissenting Gospel Minister," and began his
duties on 1 December 1767." In 1769 he secured the grant of 500 acres of land,
including some marsh land on the Grand Pré, which had been set aside for the first
minister to settle in the township. This land was in addition to the glebe revenues, which
he enjoyed in spite of not belonging to the established church.

Horton Township was still in the final stages of plantation when Murdoch arrived.

The initial proprietors were all from southeastern Connecticut, but the grants were taken

%Frame, Descriptive Sketches, p. 243. Frame gives a detailed account of Murdoch’s
ordination, based on original documents made available to her by one of Murdoch’s
granddaughters, but apparently no longer extant: Family History. Stairs, Morrow, p. 231.

For an overview of the development of these factions, see Robertson, History of the
Mission, pp. 16-18.

1James Murdoch v. Nathan DeWolf et al. (1773), Supreme Court Records (Halifax),
RG 39 C, Box 14. Murdoch detailed his relationship with the congregation in this suit
for back wages. Court records for Kings County are filed with those of Halifax County
until the Supreme Court began to go on circuit to King’s in 1774. Sources for Murdoch’s
ministerial career include A.W.H. Eaton, The History of Kings County, Nova Scotia
(Salem, Mass.: Salem Press, 1910); E. Arthur Betts, "The Rev. James Murdoch, 1745-
1799" (Halifax?, 1973), N.S.A.R.M. V/F, vol. 47, no. 5.
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up in fact by a group of fairly diverse origins, and the population numbered about 1750
by 1770. Horton may seem a curious base for a minister of the Secession Church, given
the needs of the Scots-Irish at Truro and Amherst, but it had two powerful economic
attractions: the availability of the minister’s lot, and a proven agricultural capacity which
was of interest to Murdoch’s parents.!! By 1769 Murdoch’s father had sold the family
property in Ireland and come out to Nova Scotia with his wife Margaret, his mother Ann,
his daughter Elizabeth (James’s sister) and her fiancé Matthew Frame. The family arrived
with flax seed and linen-making tools, intending to introduce that industry to Nova Scotia
as had been done so successfully by the Scots-Irish at Londonderry, New Hampshire.
Unfortunately in the very year of their arrival the Board of Trade prohibited the carrying
on of linen production in Nova Scotia, in order to protect the domestic industry.'?
Undaunted, Murdoch senior and Frame bought land and by 1779 the Murdoch-Frame
family owned 900 acres.

John Murdoch arranged for a house to be built for his son, and renovated an old

Acadian house on a nearby farm for the use of his own family. Matthew Frame bought

"By the time of Murdoch’s arrival in Nova Scotia, the Rev. John Eagleson had settled
in Cumberland (c. 1765) and taken up the minister’s lot: Gertrude Tratt, "John Eagleson,"
D.C.B. IV, pp. 258-59.

12] F. Mackinnon, Settlements and Churches in Nova Scotia, 1749-76 (Montreal:
Walker Press, 1930), p. 92. On the success of the linen industry in New England, see
A.W.H. Eaton, "The Settling of Colchester County, N.S. by New England Puritans and
Ulster Scotsmen," Royal Society of Canada Transactions, II (1912), 3rd ser., p. 221.
Eaton states that the linen industry never attained great proportions in Nova Scotia, but
fails to note the 1769 prohibition. The prospects of the industry in Nova Scotia seem
never to have been investigated by historians.
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half his brother-in-law’s land and rented the rest from him."”* Soon the minister’s house

was put to good use. In Halifax James Murdoch had met Abigail Salter, daughter of
prominent New England merchant and Assemblyman Malachi Salter. She was born at
Halifax about 1753 and would thus have been 17 or 18 when they married on 24 July
1771. Between 1772 and 1796 they had eleven children, of whom Beamish Murdoch’s
father Andrew was the fourth, born in 1777."

Murdoch’s relations with his mainly New England Congregationalist flock began
well, and his reputation as a forceful preacher spread across the province. Within a few
years, however, he was embroiled in disputes over finances, politics and theology,
possibly exacerbated by rumours of a ministerial problem with alcohol. Murdoch’s 1773
lawsuit against his congregation alleged that they had not paid him any wages since his
arrival in 1767, and now owed him over £600.”° The Alline Revolution and the
American Revolution soon followed each other in quick succession, tumning Murdoch’s
world upside-down. A product of the scholarly and classical traditions of the Scottish

ministry, Murdoch was aghast at the displays of religious enthusiasm which now erupted

13This account is based on Eliza Frame, "Rev. James Murdoch," but is confirmed by
deeds filed in the King’s County Registry of Deeds, RG 47, vol. 2, p. 64 (deed from
James Murdoch to Joseph Gray, 23 January 1770, reciting grant from Governor William
Campbell 26 September 1769); vol. 2, p. 41 (deed from Thomas Harding et ux. to John
Murdoch, 20 October 1769); vol. 3, p. 247 (deed from James Murdoch et ux. to Matthew
Frame, 21 December 1773).

14[n formation on the marriage and progeny of the Rev. James Murdoch and Abigail
(Salter) Murdoch is derived from entries in their family Bible reproduced in Family
History. Stairs. Morrow, p. 229. The original Bible, published at Edinburgh in 1766, is
held at N.S.A.RM., MG 8, vol. 22.

SSupra, note 10.
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throughout the Planter townships. He did not stand aside, but publicly "exhort[ed] [the]

father of the New Lights to give up his idle and fanatical notions” and warned his
parishioners repeatedly against Alline’s "dangerous soul-destroying delusion."'®

The American Revolution posed new difficulties. The Murdoch family were
strong supporters of the House of Hanover and the government. Yet the minister’s
religious convictions compelled him to denounce a compulsory fast proclaimed by the
government in April 1777, as an inappropriate act by the civil power, an act which earned
him no friends in Halifax."” Malachi Salter’s loyalty was more ambiguous, and in
February 1777 and January 1778 he was charged with seditious acts. His political
problems soon led to financial embarrassment, and by the time Salter died in 1781 he
could no longer provide his customary support to his daughter’s household."® This in
turn caused a cash crisis for the Murdoch household.

All these difficulties came to a head in the early 1780s, when Murdoch and his

congregation came to a parting of the ways."”” Normally, serious differences between a

'Frame, Descriptive Sketches, pp. 44-45. For the background to Alline’s movement,

see Gordon T. Stewart, Documents Relating to the Great Awakening in Nova Scotia 1760-
1791 (Toronto: Champlain Society, 1982).

"Frame, Descriptive Sketches, pp. 46-7.

'%On Salter’s political troubles, see Barry Cahill, "The Treason of the Merchants:
Dissent and Repression in Halifax in the Era of the American Revolution," Acadiensis
26:1 (1996), pp. 52-70.

“The only contemporary evidence is that of the Rev. John Wiswall, the S.P.G.
missionary at Cornwallis, who managed to oust Murdoch from enjoyment of the glebe
revenues by legal action in 1785: Wiswall to William Morice, 6 August 1786,
N.S.A.RM. Micro-Biography, Rev. John Wiswall, mfm. 11153, p. 77. He refers to
Murdoch’s "dismissal” by his congregation, but this word can refer to a voluntary or
involuntary departure in this context. Wiswall does not elaborate on the circumstances
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congregation and its minister would be submitted to the presbytery for resolution. This

was impossible here, since Murdoch’s "dismissal” occurred before the first presbytery of
the Secession Church in Nova Scotia was founded at Truro in 1786. In any case, the
Truro presbytery was part of the Burgher wing of the Secession Church, and Murdoch
was Antiburgher. When the first Antiburgher presbytery was erected in 1795 at Pictou,
however, Murdoch was not invited to join.®® During his long ministry, he remamed
aloof from the emergent institutional structures of the Secession Church, and for this
reason has remained a "missing link" in the history of Nova Scotian presbyterianism.

Even before his dismissal, Murdoch was in financial difficulty. In June 1782 the
minister was obliged to mortgage nearly all his land in order to borrow £274 from Halifax
merchant John Fillis. By 1785 he could not pay a small judgment of £16 obtained against
him, and a parcel of his unmortgaged land was sold to the creditor at a sheriff’s sale. In
1789 James and Abigail surrendered all their lands to Fillis for £387, no doubt as a way

of avoiding a foreclosure action.?2 The Murdochs joined the ranks of many smaller

of the ’dismissal.’

2patterson, "Pioneers of Presbyterianism,” pp. 85-89. The minutes of the Pictou
Presbytery begin only in 1801, while the minutes of the Truro Presbytery shed no light
on Murdoch.

21l is totally overlooked in the editors’ introduction to Charles H.H. Scobie and G.A.
Rawlyk, eds. The Contribution of Presbyterianism to the Maritime Provinces of Canada
(Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 1997), where the initiation of
Antiburgher clerical activity is associated with the arrival of the Rev. James McGregor,
who arrived in Nova Scotia twenty years after Murdoch, in 1786. Murdoch was also
excluded from the Dictionary of Canadian Biography.

ZRG 47 (King’s Co. Registry of Deeds), vol. 4, p. 74 (mortgage from James Murdoch
et ux. to John Fillis, 28 June 1782); vol. 4, p. 190 (deed from James Murdoch et ux. to
John Fillis, 19 May 1789); vol. 4, p. 260 (sheriff’s deed to J.T. Hill of property formerly



26
landholders who lost out as the lands of Horton Township quickly accumulated in the

hands of an ever-decreasing circle of owners.?

After twenty years of labour in his adopted homeland, Murdoch was left with
virtually nothing. For a time the Murdoch household moved to Windsor, but James found
the Anglican atmosphere surrounding King’s College uncongenial. At the request of a
small congregation of Loyalists at Musquodoboit, he moved there in 1791 to minister to
them. There was no stipend, but they built him a small house. When it burned they buiit
another, but many of Murdoch’s books and papers were destroyed. He continued to
minister to families and small congregations as far away as Chignecto, travelling by foot,
horse and canoe in all seasons under punishing conditions.* It was likely at this time
that the Rev. Dr. James McGregor, the Scottish Antiburgher firebrand, met with Murdoch

in his rude log dwelling at Musquodoboit and "was touched with profound pity for his

owned by James Murdoch, 6 July 1785). Fillis was the brother of Abigail Murdoch’s
sister-in-law Susannah (Fillis) Salter, who had married Abigail’s brother Benjamin. Eliza
Frame’s account of these matters in "Rev. James Murdoch" contains some inaccuracies
when compared with the land records.

It is not clear from the land records what happened to the lands purchased by John
Murdoch. There appear to be no estate papers for him, and few Supreme Court records
from King’s County survive from this period. Elizabeth and Matthew Frame also sold
out to Fillis in 1792 and moved to rented premises in Hants County, which suggests that
John Murdoch’s lands were soid for debts at his death. After surrendering his own lands,
James Murdoch and his family appear to have lived with his parents until their deaths in
December 1790. Some sources suggest that the family then spent some time at Windsor
before moving to Musquodoboit.

Bebra Anne McNabb, "Land and Families in Horton Township, N.S. 1760-1830,"
(University of British Columbia M.A. thesis, 1986), pp. 52-55.

2Eliza Frame gives an account of his travels in the 1790s based on fragments of his
diary she found during a trip to Musquodoboit in the 1860s: Descriptive Sketches, pp.
33-50.
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condition, but ... felt unable to unite with him in ministerial fellowship."® The pity
arose from Murdoch’s obvious poverty, from his widely-known epileptic affliction, and
possibly too from his rumoured fondness for alcohol.

The body of the Rev. James Murdoch was found at the edge of the Musquodoboit
River on 21 November 1799, not far from his home. Some accounts suggest that he
drowned after an epileptic fit, others that he died of exposure after being incapacitated by
a seizure.®® Any suggestion of suicide would have been suppressed by contemporaries,
but whether he died of natural causes or not, the Rev. James Murdoch came to an
inglorious end.

The minister left no pecuniary legacy to his descendants, but his pioneering
ministry must be counted a success in at least some respects. He participated in the first
ordination in the province in 1770, and made no secret of his anti-slavery views. At a
time when the preaching of Henry Alline was highly popular, Murdoch continued to be

sought after. The loss of his papers, his estrangement from the institutional structures of

BGeorge Patterson Scrapbook, MG 9, vol. 31 (N.S.A.R.M. mfm. 170), p. 18. This
scrapbook contains an augmented, and more explicit, version of the manuscript biography
of Murdoch found in Patterson’s "Pioneers of Presbyterianism." Patterson must have sent
a draft version of the more explicit version, which treated as fact Murdoch’s alcohol
problem, to Murdoch’s great-nephew the Rev. William Frame. An animated
correspondence between the two men on this topic follows in the scrapbook. On
McGregor’s career in Nova Scotia, see Barry Cahill, "The Antislavery Polemic of the
Reverend James McGregor: Canada’s Proto-Abolitionist as 'Radical Evangelical’," in
Scobie and Rawlyk, Contribution of Presbyterianism.

%Roval Gazette and Nova Scotia Advertiser, 3 December 1799.
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presbyterianism, and his personal problems have led to an undeserved neglect of his
contribution to the ecclesiastical history of the province.”’

Murdoch’s eldest son Andrew was twelve years of age when the family’s lands at
Horton were surrendered. He was then sent to Halifax to the home of Abigail’s brother
Benjamin Salter, who ran a ship’s chandlery and marine insurance business. Given the
wreck of the Murdoch family fortunes, young Andrew and his siblings would have to
make their own way in the world, with some assistance from their extended family.
Benjamin Salter trained Andrew in his business, and later arranged for Andrew’s younger
brother William to be sent to sea as a captain’s clerk. By the time of his marriage to
Elizabeth Ott Beamish in 1799, Andrew was much involved in his uncle’s business.”
Simeon Perkins recorded a number of instances in his diary where he obtained insurance
"in Mr. Salter’s office, by giving a Memdm to Andrew Murdoch."” On 27 April 1799,

he noted that "Mr. Murdoch" and others had come from Halifax to speculate in a prize

IThe pattern was set early on. In his History of the Mission of the Secession Church,
the Rev. James Robertson devoted three pages to the activities of Mr. Samuel Kinloch,
a Scottish probationer who spent only three years in the province, while Murdoch’s 33-
year ministry is summarized as follows (p. 22): "All that we have been able to learn of
Mr. Murdoch is that, after preaching for a short time at Windsor . . . he removed to
Musquodoboit, where he was unfortunately drowned.” The decision of the Rev. George
Patterson to write Murdoch out of his biography of the Rev. James MacGregor, and to
accord MacGregor (Patterson’s grandfather) the starring role among his Presbyterian
pioneers, undoubtedly contributed to this trend. See George Patterson, Memoir of the
Rev. James MacGregor, D.D. . . . (Philadelphia: J.M. Wilson, 1859). Patterson’s
glorification of MacGregor at Murdoch’s expense was the subject of some acerbic
comment by Eliza Frame in her Descriptive Sketches, pp. 44-6.

Benjamin Salter’s daybook for June-October 1799, MG 3, vol. 1838c, records
numerous payments to Andrew Murdoch in cash and in kind.

®D.C. Harvey, ed., The Diary of Simeon Perkins (Toronto: Champlain Society,
1978), vol. 4 (1797-1803), p. 164. See also entries at pp. 163, 167.
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ship which had been condemned to Perkins.*® An entry for 3 December 1801 is more

ominous, and gives a hint of the financial disaster which was soon to engulf the young
man. Perkins noted that he had a letter from lawyer Daniel Wood, "calling for payment
of a Bond I gave in the Import Office with Andrew Murdoch, for Duties in May 1799,
for about £112, which he has not paid. . . . [TJhe Commissioners have ordered it put in
Suit."' The Attorney General did sue for that amount in Easter term 1802, and
Murdoch managed to pay it by July of that year, but clearly he was in some financial
difficulty.> A large part of Murdoch’s problems may be traced to the untimely death
of his uncle on 25 March 1800. Benjamin Salter died intestate, leaving his affairs in
some disorder.®® His widow Susannah petitioned the court that Murdoch and her two
brothers be appointed as co-administrators to assist her in administering the estate. They
were sued by the London mercantile firm of Brook Watson & Co. for the sum of £4365,
allegedly due on Salter’s accounts. When Salter’s assets proved insufficient to satisfy this
huge judgment, the firm sued Andrew Murdoch as the “"surviving partner of Benjamin

Salter, late of Halifax." Unfortunately, Murdoch had just been taken into his uncle’s

Whid., p. 162.
31Tbid., p. 349, entry for 3 December 1801.

32Attorney-General v. Andrew Murdoch (1802), RG 39 C (Halifax), box 83. The
continuation in box 84, The King v. Andrew Murdoch, notes payment of the sum.

3The estate papers of Benjamin Salter, RG 48 (Halifax County Court of Probate),
S1, reel 19421.
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business as a partner in June 1799, so that he was legally liable for this debt. Judgment

was entered against him on 2 July 1802 for £3000.*

A year of negotiations followed, during which Murdoch desperately tried to
recover debts owing to him, arranging for the commitment of one of his own debtors to
jail in the process.’® It was all to no avail. A writ of execution issued on 25 October
1803, which Sheriff Lewis M. Wilkins endorsed on 10 December with the curt notation
"I could find no goods and Chattels Land or Tenements of the within named Andrew
Murdoch whereon to levy this Writ. [ have therefore taken the Body of the said Andrew
Murdoch and committed him to Jail."** Compounding Andrew’s misfortune was the
death of his wife about this time. Elizabeth Ott Murdoch is usually said to have died in
childbirth, but she survived Beamish’s birth by over three years, dying in late 1803 or
early 1804, probably as result of long-term complications arising from the birth. With
her death Andrew lost not only his wife but his son, as the homeless Beamish was taken

in by his maternal grandmother. For his part, young Beamish would be left with only

MBrook Watson, William Goodal and John Turner v. Susannah Salter, John and
Thomas Fillis, and Andrew Murdoch, administrators of Benjamin Salter ( 1802), Brook
Watson, William Goodal and John Turner v. Andrew Murdoch (1802), both at RG 39C
(Halifax), box 84. Watson had also been the most pressing of Malachi Salter’s creditors
in the 1770s, according to Susan Buggey, "Malachi Salter,” D.C.B, vol. IV, pp. 695-96.

In his petition to the House of Assembly in 1806, Murdoch admitted to owing
Watson the £3000: MG 100, vol. 193, no. 44 (typescript transcription of petition dated
18 November 1806). ’

35 Andrew Murdoch v. Charles Chipman (1802), RG 39 C (Halifax), box 84.

3Endorsed on the writ of execution issued in Brook Watson et al. v. Andrew
Murdoch. This notation implies that Murdoch was imprisoned in late 1803, but in his
1806 petition Murdoch stated that he had entered jail in June of that year: supra, note 33.
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fleeting memories of a mother who shared the fate of many others in an era of high
maternal mortality.  The loss of his mother, a literate woman who would no doubt have
taken great interest in her son’s education, was probably at least as great a misfortune to
Beamish Murdoch as the financial ruin of his father.

Andrew Murdoch would remain in the squalid Halifax jail for at least the next four
years. The experience of imprisonment for debt was not uncommon, but Murdoch’s
length of stay in prison was unusual’” Under a Nova Scotia law, insolvent debtors
could be released if they were prepared to make an inventory of all their property and
assign it to their creditors, even though the value of that property was not enough to
satisfy the full debt. This law reflected the prevailing belief that it was better to have
debtors engaged in useful work than languishing in prison, if they genuinely did not have
sufficient assets to cover their debts. Provincial law did not recognize bankruptcy as such,
but the insolvent debtors’ law went some way in that direction. Unfortunately for
Murdoch, relief was available only to debtors whose debts totalled less than £100. For
Murdoch, there were only two possible avenues of release: mercy by the creditor, or a

special relief act passed by the House of Assembly.*

In his 1805 petition to the House of Assembly, Murdoch noted that more than 130
persons had been committed to debtors’ prison at Halifax in the preceding two years: RG
5 A, vol. 12. Most would have been released after a fairly brief stay if their debts were
under £100.

%0n the development of debtor-creditor law, see generally Philip Girard, "Married
Women’s Property, Chancery Abolition and Insolvency Law: Law Reform in Nova
Scotia, 1820-1867," in Philip Girard and Jim Phillips, eds., Essays in the History of
Canadian Law, vol. IlT (Toronto: Osgoode Society, 1990).
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Murdoch’s December 1805 petition to the House of Assembly makes for grim

reading in spite of its eloquent, learned and forceful expression, testimony to the superior
education which James and Abigail Murdoch had been able to provide to their children.
The petition did not ask for Murdoch’s release, merely for better conditions for
imprisoned debtors. Only fuel and water were supplied in jail, and Murdoch alleged that
creditors seldom arranged for the 8 Ib. of bread per week for their debtors which they
were obliged by law to provide. Debtors thrown on their own resources would have
perished had other prisoners not shared their food with them. Murdoch also complained
that the absence of prison yards for air and exercise was "far from [demonstrating] that
Humanity, Benevolence and Attention which so eminently distinguishes the British
character in Europe above all the civilized Nations of the World." This invocation of the
British national character may have provoked the desired result: in January 1806 the
Assembly voted £50 for the relief of distressed debtors.

Two bills in 1807, reacting to a second petition by Murdoch in November 1806,
aimed at his release by providing that he could take advantage of the insolvent debtors’
law in spite of the amount of his debts. The first was rejected by the Council on 8
January, while the next passed second reading in the Assembly on 19 December but

ultimately did not become law.”® There is no record of a provincial act in Murdoch’s

¥RG 5 U, vol. 4 (1804-1812).
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favour, but he appears to have been released in 1808, possibly as an act of grace by the
estate of Sir Brook Watson, who died in October 1807.%
Upon his release Andrew Murdoch sought to support himself as a teacher, though
he continued to style himself "gentleman” in legal documents. For the rest of his life he
eked out an existence in the settlements sprinkled around the eastern part of the Bay of
Fundy, following literally in his father’s footsteps. Thomas Chandler Haliburton’s 1849
account of the life of a colonial school teacher might have been written with Andrew in
mind:
When a man fails in his trade, or is too lazy to work, he [re]sorts to
teaching as a livelihood, and the school-house, like the asylum for the
poor, receives all those who are, from misfortune or incapacity, unable to
provide for themselves. The wretched teacher has no home; he . . .
resides, a stipulated number of days, in every house — too short a time for
his own comfort, and too long for that of the family.*!

Murdoch was paid £50 to teach at the village school in Parrsborough in 1811-12, and

received a licence to keep a school at the settlement of Noel in Hants County in 1816.%

This wage of £1 per week was about that of a day labourer, and was the minimum

required to keep body and soul together.

“In August 1814 Murdoch petitioned the Council for a land grant, stating that he had
"resided for these last six years constantly in the said Province:" RG 20 A (1814). This
is a curious statement given that Murdoch had lived his whole life in the province. It
makes more sense if the six years is taken to refer to his release from prison, which would
place that event in 1808. Although recommended for 250 acres, it seems Murdoch
ultimately did not receive any land as his name does not appear in the Crown Land Grants
index.

“"Thomas Chandler Haliburton, The Old Judge: or. Life in a Colony (Ottawa:
Tecumseh Press, 1978), p. 128.

“MG 1, vol. 187, no. 81; RG 1, vol. 173, p. 343.
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Yet Andrew Murdoch was not entirely dependent on his teaching wage. Through

all his travails he had managed to keep his interest in certain property which had come
to him through his wife’s estate. Elizabeth Ott Murdoch had inherited an interest in
various Halifax properties, including a valuable wharf, under the will of her step-
grandfather. The wharf was the subject of lengthy litigation between the Cochran and
Beamish families beginning in 1802. It was not until 1820 that the claims of the Beamish
family were finally settled after an appeal to the Privy Council in England, and the -
Cochrans were compelled to return the wharf to its rightful owners. Had Elizabeth Ott
Murdoch been alive, she would have been entitled to a share in this property in common
with her siblings. Upon her death her share descended to her son Beamish, subject to a
life interest in her husband, known to the common law as an estate by the curtesy. In
order to avoid this encumbrance, the family entered an arrangement in 1825 whereby
Andrew gave up his life interest in a number of properties, in return for ownership of a
one-fifth interest in two tenements near the Market Wharf.*

Land ownership was a mixed blessing for Andrew Murdoch, in that it gave him
a source of credit which encouraged him to live beyond his means. He and his wife’s

siblings sold one of the properties in 1832, which netted Murdoch some £60.* His

“Halifax County Registry of Deeds, RG 47, vol. 48, p. 232, deed from Andrew
Murdoch to Beamish Murdoch dated 8 July 1825; vol. 49, p. 364, deed from Beamish
Murdoch to Andrew Murdoch dated 9 July 1825. The purchase price in both transactions
was stated to be £300, so in substance the parties were effecting an exchange of the
properties.

“RG 47, vol. 56, p. 473, deed from Andrew Murdoch et al. to Comnelius O’Sullivan,
6 September 1832.
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interest in the other he mortgaged in 1833 to Parrsborough merchants James and Charles
Ratchford for £52, and then a year later to Truro attorney Robert Dickson for £100.%
A decade later he was in default on both mortgages. His son came to the rescue, paid off
the mortgages and arranged for a sale of Andrew’s interest.* Now nearly 70, Andrew
Murdoch faced the prospect of total destitution at the end of his working life. Without
savings or property of any kind, it was up to his son to support him if he was not to be
left to the ministrations of the overseers of the poor. For the last decade of his father’s
life, Beamish Murdoch paid £26 annually to Robert Dewis of Fort Belcher (near Truro)
for Andrew’s board, lodging and washing.*’

In economic terms, Andrew Murdoch’s story is a simple one. He was a poor
manager of money in a society which provided little relief for those so afflicted. His first
failure in business was probably precipitated by being thrown in over his head upon the
early death of his uncle; his later failures were mostly his own. Ata psychological level,
the story is more complex. The relationship between Andrew and Beamish Murdoch is

usually characterized as one of estrangement, yet that term does not fully capture their

“RG 47, vol. 59, p. 344, mortgage from Andrew Murdoch to James Ratchford, Jr.
and Charles Edward Ratchford, 11 June 1833; RG 47, vol. 59, p. 417, mortgage from
Andrew Murdoch to Robert Benjamin Dickson, 28 April 1834.

%RG 47, vol. 80, p. 270, release from Andrew McGrigor to Beamish Murdoch, 17
May 1845. The document recites that Beamish Murdoch requested McGrigor to pay off
the holders of two mortgages made by Andrew Murdoch in May 1843 in the amount of
£145, and now that Beamish Murdoch has repaid McGrigor in full, McGrigor conveys to
him all Andrew Murdoch’s former interest in the property in question.

“IMG 3, vol. 1836a, f. 41. MG 3, vol. 1837, f. 45 is a draft letter by Beamish
Murdoch dated 24 March 1860 to Dewis regarding final payment of his "late father’s
account." Andrew Murdoch died at Parrsborough on 30 October 1855 at the age of 78:
Presbyterian Witness, 10 November 1855, p. 179.
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lives. Beamish Murdoch did not have the luxury of being totally "estranged” from his

father - they remained in contact throughout Andrew Murdoch’s long life, and Murdoch
fulfilled his filial duties to the end.

The nature of their emotional relationship is a puzzle. Beamish Murdoch could
probably have forgiven his father’s poverty but Andrew’s lack of respectability must have
been more problematic. His great-niece Susan Stairs records in her memoir that "all his
life his habits and character were a constant source of grief and mortification to his
sisters,” but with typical Victorian reticence fails to specify what his failings were.*®
Certainly Andrew’s financial woes were enough to justify familial and societal
disapproval, but more is hinted at in this phrase. Sexual irregularity or intemperance or
both are the most likely causes of this "grief and mortification.” The latter is suggested
by Stairs’s elliptical reference to Andrew’s time in prison where, she states, he beguiled
his time "in posting books for merchants and in the more questionable pursuits practised
in this Marshalsea."™® Alcohol was freely available to those inmates of the prison who
could pay for it, although there were periodic attempts to suppress the activity of the jailer
in supplying intoxicants. It would not be surprising if Andrew had turned to drink during
his long stay in jail.

The failed father hovered like a doppelginger over the son. The hereditary
principle was fundamental to colonial society, and it was assumed that well-placed fathers

would assist their sons to replicate their own status. Andrew Murdoch would never be

“Family History. Stairs, Morrow, p. 236.
“Ibid., p. 237.
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able to make the connections which might ease his son’s entry into the colonial élite. Il
luck or even incapacity in money matters would probably have been easier to bear than
Andrew’s moral unworthiness, which was a constant liability for his son. The only way
Beamish Murdoch could escape this damnosa hereditas was to fashion an identity which
emphasized sobriety, thrift, temperance, civility and above all, hard work. For every
paternal vice, he would find the concomitant virtue. Where Andrew Murdoch was
mobile, shiftless and defied the expectations of his family and peers, his son became a
pillar of Victorian propriety, rectitude and respectability.

Galvanized perhaps by the spectacle of their brother’s failure, all of Andrew
Murdoch’s siblings managed to avoid his fate. Unfortunately for Beamish Murdoch,
however, none of his Murdoch uncles was able to serve as a substitute paternal figure.
Three of Andrew’s brothers were sacrificed to the sea at an early age. William Salter
Murdoch was sent to sea in 1796 at age 16 through the efforts of his uncle Benjamin
Salter, and was later educated for the Royal Navy by his eldest sister’s husband, merchant
William Duffus. He died in the Hasler Hospital, Portsmouth in 1806 shortly after
attaining the rank of lieutenant.® Two years later James Murdoch, Jr. drowned near
Halifax at the age of 17, when he fell from the spar of a schooner returning from

Barbados.”! Joseph died young while serving on a vessel in the Mediterranean.

*Ibid., pp. 225, 244; Nova Scotia Royal Gazette, 11 November 1806.

S'Weekly Chronicle (Halifax), 18 March 1808.
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Andrew’s youngest brother Benjamin, only four years older than Beamish Murdoch,

apparently emigrated to the United States and nothing more is known of him.*”

Andrew’s sisters fared rather better. In particular, his eldest sister Susannah
married Scottish emigré William Duffus, who became a successful Halifax merchant.
Their children, Beamish Murdoch’s cousins, penetrated to the highest levels of the Halifax
élite. Daughters Susan and Elizabeth married Samuel and Henry Cunard respectively,
while Mary Ann married merchant John Morrow and became the mother-in-law of the
Hon. W.J. Stairs. Margaret married lawyer William Sutherland, with whom Beamish
Murdoch would have some professional dealings later in life. Beamish Murdoch appears
to have been almost completely estranged from his paternal relatives. If Andrew was a
source of "grief and mortification” for his sisters, they were imlikely to have much to do
with his son, for fear of bringing shame on their husband’s houses.

The Salter connection did not provide much assistance to Beamish Murdoch either,
confounding his parents’ expectations. By christening their son Benjamin Salter Beamish
Murdoch, after his recently deceased great-uncle, Andrew and Elizabeth demonstrated
their gratitude and loyalty to the relative who had taken in Andrew as a child. Murdoch

was known in his youth as "Salter” rather than "Beamish,” even by his Beamish relatives,

52Eliza Frame, "Rev. James Murdoch,” pp. 108-09. Another, more curious, void in
the Murdoch family history is the fate of Andrew’s mother, Abigail Murdoch. Widowed
in 1799, and left with several of her ten surviving children still at home and no apparent
source of income, her position was far from enviable. Abigail remarried at St. Paul’s in
1803, to Henry King, "bachelor,” a much older man who died at Boston in 1817. She
herself died in Halifax in 1833: Acadian Recorder, 31 May 1817; 21 December 1833.
The absence of any reference to her life post-1799 in Eliza Frame’s or Susan Stairs’s
accounts suggests some estrangement from the Murdoch clan, possibly as a result of the
second marriage.
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until about the time of his majority.” However, Murdoch appears to have had little to
do with the Salters. By the time he reached early manhood his absorption into his
maternal family, symbolized by his selection of the Christian name of Beamish, was

complete.

The Beamish family

The surname Beamish is said to derive from the place-name Beaumais-sur-Dive
in France, but the English branch of the family had been long settled in the western
counties by Elizabeth’s time. The emigration of the Beamishes to Ireland can be dated
to the late Elizabethan period with more confidence than that of the Murdochs. Their
settlement occurred in the aftermath of the Munster Rebellion of 1579, which had led to
the death of thousands and the confiscation of over 500,000 English acres of land from
the native Irish. Some 300,000 acres of this tract considered useable were granted to
English landlords, pursuant to a plantation scheme approved by Elizabeth [ in 1586. The
scheme relied on "undertakers" to find and establish English settlers on the lands granted
to them as seigniories, similar to the system which would be applied two centuries later

in Prince Edward Island. Unlike earlier schemes which had involved English settlement

S3References to Beamish Murdoch as "Salter”" include: RG 20 A (1814) (petition of
Andrew Murdoch for land grant referring to son “"Salter Beamish Murdoch"}; Dale
McClare, ed., Louisa’s Diary: the Journal of a Farmer’s Daughter, Dartmouth, 1815
[Louisa Collins, future wife of Murdoch’s uncle Thomas Ott Beamish] (Halifax: Nova
Scotia Museum, 1989), p. 26, entry for 1 October 1815; will of Frederick Ott Beamish
dated 9 June 1817 names as executor "Salter Murdoch, my nephew:" Halifax County
Court of Probate, RG 48, B32, reel 19397. Murdoch signed as "Beamish Murdoch" when
witnessing this will, however. There are no references to Murdoch as "Salter" after 1821
in any documents seen by the author.
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in Ireland, the distinction between ruler and ruled was now more apparent since it was
based on the bright line of religion. Only Protestant undertakers and settlers were to be
permitted, and these people were sometimes called the New English, to distinguish them
from the Old English who had settled in Ireland in previous centuries, but who had
remained very largely Catholic after the Reformation.™

Lands at Bandonbridge (or Bandon) in what later became County Cork were
granted to an undertaker named Phane Becher from the west of England, and a settler
named Beamish is one of the 85 listed there in 1588.” The family suffered and survived
the convulsions of Irish history over the next century: a second flowering of the Munster
Rebellion from 1594 to 1603, the rebellion of 1641-42 occasioned by the English
Revolution, and the civil war of 1688-89. John and Francis "Bemish," two sons of the
original settler (whose first name is unknown), made depositions to the commission which
heard evidence of losses to English Protestants during the 1641 rebellion.*® They
described themselves as yeomen, but succeeding generations would adopt the style of

gentleman, including Francis’s great-grandson, Thomas Beamish of Cork and Halifax.

*Michael MacCarthy-Morrogh, The Munster Plantation: English Migration to
Southern Ireland 1583-1641 (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1986).

55C.T.M. Beamish, Beamish. A Genealogical Study of a Family in County Cork and
Elsewhere (London: privately published, 1950), at p. 9. The following account of the

Beamish family in Ireland is based largely on this source, which is itself based on primary
sources.

S6Trinity College Dublin Manuscripts Department, Ms. 825.66. The descent of John
and Francis from the original Beamish settler of 1588 cannot be conclusively established
from the existing documentary record, but is highly likely. It is assumed that their
mother, Catherine Beamish, whose death is documented in 1642, was the widow of the
original Beamish settler.
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Bandon was a notable Protestant enclave in the midst of a sea of Irish Catholicism.
Sir Richard Boyle, Earl of Cork, purchased the surrounding seigniory from the Becher
family about 1619, encircled it with a fine wall, and made it "the showpiece foundation
in Munster . . . with its brand-new walls, houses, and gardens laid out with chessboard
precision.”’” The town burgesses early on enacted that "no Papist inhabitant shall be
suffered to dwell within the town," and Boyle expelled those Catholics who had settled
just outside it in Becher’s day. Not until 1800 were any Catholics suffered to live in the
town.”® Religious exclusivity invaded Cork City as well. Following Cromwell’s bloody
campaign in Ireland in 1649 all Catholics of any substance, including the wealthy Old
English merchants, were expelled from the city. Municipal government and complete
control of trade and industry were accorded exclusively to Protestants.*
Peace finally came to the region after the defeat of James II at the Boyne in 1690.
With the return of trade and agricultural production, Cork soon became a recognized port
of call for transatlantic shipping. Prevented by British tariffs from producing wool or

grain, landowners around Cork turned their lands to the production of meat, hides and

dairy products. Vast amounts of foodstuffs left the port for the continent, North America

5"MacCarthy-Morrogh, Munster Plantation, at pp. 253-54.

8George Bennett, The History of Bandon and the principal towns in the west riding
of County Cork, enl. ed. (Cork: Francis Guy, 1869), pp. 44, 326, 340-45, 520.

William O’Sullivan, The Economic History of Cork City from the Earliest Times
to the Act of Union (Cork: Cork University Press, 1937), pp. 108-12.
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and the West Indies. By 1760 the population of Cork was 60,000, twice the size of

Glasgow, Liverpool or Birmingham.®

Thomas Beamish’s father John was a freeman of the corporation of Bandon, but
Thomas and his brother Richard both removed to nearby Cork to enter trade. John’s elder
brother succeeded to the major part of the Beamish lands, and John and his sons appear
to have sold their smaller hoidings to the senior branch of the family in order to use their
capital in mercantile ventures and to finance emigration.® Cork’s very success in the
export trade made it vulnerable to embargoes imposed during wartime by the British
government. A series of such restrictions in 1762-63 during the war with France caused
many failures among the provision merchants, and this experience may well have led the
Beamish brothers to consider emigration.®

Cork’s close economic ties with the eastern colonies of North America meant that
Thomas Beamish would probably have been reasonably familiar with the conditions

prevailing at Halifax, where he arrived about 1765.2 He set himself up as a merchant

“Ibid., pp. 144-49.

6'The Beamish lands at Kilmalooda remained in the family until at least 1950, though
the great house suffered extensive damage by fire during the Irish civil war in 1923.

2Ibid., pp. 150-52. A generation after their emigration, a collateral branch of the
family responded to this same problem by deciding to focus on a product which could be
consumed at home. The Beamish and Crawford Brewery, established in 1792, has
survived for two centuries in Cork and now exports its ales to the international market.

SInformation on the Beamish family in Nova Scotia is derived largely from Terrence
M. Punch, "Beamish of Kilvurra and Halifax," Nova Scotia Historical Quarterly 9 (1979),
269-278. Thomas’s brother Richard Beamish emigrated to America but not to Nova
Scotia, and nothing more is known of him. Their sister Elizabeth Beamish either
accompanied or followed Thomas to Halifax, where she remained, unmarried, until her
death in 1826.
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and soon had formed an association with Frederick Ott, whose fifteen-year-old step-
daughter Amelia he married in 1770. Ott was a highly successful victualler in early
Halifax: a 1776 survey showed him as one of the largest landowners in the town.*
Beamish’s relationship with Ott, cemented by the marital tie, initially allowed him to
establish a secure place within colonial society. In 1781 he was considered able and loyal
enough to be appointed Warden of the Port of Halifax, responsible for verifying the status
of all incoming vessels during the revolutionary war. The bubble burst in 1783, when
the death of Frederick Ott, the end of the war and the influx of the loyalists, gave rise to
an entirely new situation. Reduced British spending, a fall in commodity prices from
inflated wartime levels, and the sudden appearance of a whole troop of competitors gave
a sharp shock to the Halifax mercantile community, and the Beamish fortunes suffered
accordingly. Ott left his substantial estate to Thomas and Amelia in trust for their
children, born and to be born, so that they were not able to use his assets as security.®
The net result was increasing indebtedness, which saw Thomas Beamish committed to
debtors’ prison by 1787 - at the suit of the same English creditor, Brook Watson, who
would render Andrew Murdoch the same favour sixteen years later. Beamish’s release
was only secured by conveying to his creditors a valuable wharf property belonging to the
Ott estate, but this left the family in much reduced circumstances. The family removed

to Cole Harbour, and Thomas Beamish disappeared in 1792, never to return.

“Halifax Assessments 1775-76, RG 1, vol. 411, doc. 7.

§SWill of Frederick Ott Beamish, 1 June 1780, Halifax County Court of Probate, no.
022.
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It was Amelia Ott Beamish who was crucial to the restoration of the Beamish
family fortunes over the next two decades. She believed that the creditors had acted
illegally in 1787, and was determined to regain the wharf; the family’s legal struggle
forms the basis of the next chapter. In addition, after the early deaths of two of her
daughters Amelia took in two grandsons and raised them as her own, with the assistance
of her three unmarried daughters Sarah, Maria and Harriette. Rounding out the household
was Thomas Beamish’s unmarried sister, Elizabeth.

This bevy of Beamish women shaped Beamish Murdoch’s youth and adolescence.
On the intellectual plane, they inspired his interest in history and literature. Amelia had
practically been born with the town, and was the custodian of a long family memory.
Sarah was said to have tasted the wine raised from the ships wrecked in the Duc
D’Anville’s ill-fated expedition of 1746.% Maria worked for some years at the Royal
Acadian School as "female superintendant,” while great-aunt Elizabeth Beamish ran her
own school.5” All these women were literate, and valued education enough to arrange
for Beamish to attend the Halifax Grammar School before he began his apprenticeship as
an attorney. On the financial plane, the Beamish women fought along with their male kin

for the restoration of the inheritance wrongfully wrested from them in the 1780s. Their

%This incident was recounted by Thomas Beamish Akins, who lived with Sarah Ott
Beamish much of her life, to John Thomas Bulmer, who recorded it in his obituary notice
of Akins in the Canadian Voice, 9 May 1891.

She moved to separate quarters in 1804, wherein she opened a school for young
children, but remained very much part of the family: Royal Gazette, 31 May 1804.
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eventual success secured for Beamish Murdoch a measure of economic security which
would enable him to aspire to an important role on the provincial stage.

On the psychological plane, the influence of the Beamish women is more difficult
to judge. They may have intensified the alienation which existed between father and son
in their efforts to ensure that Beamish did not follow Andrew’s example. They raised him
as an Anglican, ignoring Andrew’s Presbyterianism, and sought to remake him as a
member of the Beamish family. Contemporaries would no doubt have seen these
measures as entirely appropriate, but they probably exacted a psychological toll on young
Beamish which cannot be precisely defined.

Though very much part of the Beamish family in his private life and in public
perception, Beamish Murdoch ultimately sought to transcend the heritage of both his
Beamish and his Murdoch kin. The unhappy fates of his grandfathers and his parents
meant that Murdoch did not have a secure place within the colony’s political or social
élites. He could not expect the deference accorded members of those élites in what was
still a very hierarchical society modelled on, though less rigid than, class-divided Britain.
If he were to achieve any notice in colonial society, it would have to be through his own
efforts. In time, then, he would turn to the most communicative professions: law and
journalism. Yet recognition presumes an audience. Murdoch’s constituency would be
neither the élites nor the unpropertied labourers at the bottom of the social hierarchy, but

everyone in between: the middle class.



Chapter Two

Contested Inheritance: The Market Wharf, 1785-1820

In addressing the topic of judicial salaries in a speeck to the Nova Scotia House
of Assembly in the spring of 1830, Beamish Murdoch observed that "he could speak
feelingly, as he had all that he was worth in the world, at one time depending upon [the
judges’] decision."' He did not need to elaborate. Provincial society was still smali
enough that most of the men in the chamber would have known instantly that he was

referring to a cause célébre in the provincial Court of Chancery involving a valuable

wharf property, which had ended a decade earlier. This epic struggle had pitted Murdoch
and his maternal kin against the three Cochran brothers, wealthy Halifax merchants whose
powerful presence had dominated Nova Scotian society for decades. The Cochrans had
pursued the dispute to the foot of the throne, but to no avail. His Majesty in Council
affirmed the Nova Scotia Chancery decree, which returned title to the wharf to the
Beamish family, some thirty years after the Cochrans had wrested it from them.
Studies of civil justice have been fairly rare in the British North American context.
There is little in Canadian legal or social history (outside Quebec) to compare with the

intensive study of dispute resolution and court records in New England, for example.?

'Novascotian (Halifax), 18 March 1830.

To cite only a few influential works, Bruce Mann, Neighbors and Strangers: Law
and Community in Early Connecticut (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press,
1987); William E. Nelson, Americanization of the Common Law (Athens, Ga.:

University of Georgia Press, 1994); Dispute and Conflict Resolution in Plymouth County,
Massachusetts, 1725-1825 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1981)
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The administration of the criminal law has tended to attract more attention, partly because

of its apparently greater accessibility to scholars who despair of ever understanding
colonial property law or civil procedure; and partly because it seems a natural extension
of the large body of work done on Canadian social history since the 1960s. Recently
there have been signs of change. The interest in women’s history has finally spurred
scholars to overcome their distaste for the intricacies of private law, and to examine
women’s experience of it by means of both quantitative techniques and case studies.’
The largely unexplored issue of the inter-relationship between criminal law and civil
remedies has begun to attract attention. An interest in the development of colonial
identities and in state formation has spurred others to look at the emergence of the
apparatus of civil justice in specific jurisdictions, and at perceptions of colonial justice

through the lens of particular case studies. Tina Loo’s recent book Making Law, Order,

Quebec has been an exception in the Canadian context, partly because of a greater
willingness on the part of Quebec scholars to treat law as a significant cultural
phenomenon, partly because Quebec’s bijuridical legal order has been an obvious place
to look at French-English relations over time. See Evelyn Kolish,, "Imprisonment for
Debt in Lower Canada, 1791-1840," McGill Law Journal 32 (1987) 603; Jean-Maurice
Brisson, La formation d’un droit mixte: 1’évolution de la procédure civilede 1774 a 1867
(Montreal: Thémis, 1986); John A. Dickinson, Justice et justiciables: la procédure civile
4 la prévoté de Québec, 1667-1759 (Quebec: Presses de I’Université Laval, 1982).

JConstance Backhouse, Petticoats and Prejudice (Toronto: Osgooode Society, 1992);
Kimberley Smith Maynard, "Divorce in Nova Scotia, 1750-1890," in Philip Girard and
Jim Phillips, eds. Essays in the History of Canadian Law, vol. ITI, Nova Scotia (Toronto:
Osgoode Society, 1990); Rebecca Veinott, "Custody and Divorce: A Nova Scotia Study,
1850-1910," in ibid.

‘Ernest A. Clarke and Jim Phillips, ""The Course of Law Cannot be Stopped’: the
Aftermath of the Cumberland Rebellion in the Civil Courts of Nova Scotia, 1778-1808"
(unpublished ms., 1995).
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and Authority in British Columbia, 1821-1871 is a particularly rich study which combines
both techniques.’

There is no doubt that a sizeable percentage of the colonial population regularly
came into contact with the civil side of the justice system. Although other kinds of
dispute resolution mechanisms were available and were used, the formal courts were
indispensable to the functioning of the British North American economy. The vast
majority of cases processed by the courts were of a routine nature, and call for the
application of statistical techniques. Such efforts need to be constructed, however, with
a clear knowledge of the experience of individuals with the law, both in "ordinary” cases
and in those which went far beyond the ordinary. As Peter Hoffer has recently stated,

Behind the aggregate data of litigation rates are individual stories, and each
represents a decision to invest time, money, and effort in a lawsuit. In
human terms, the cases were . . . major personal events, invested with hope
and fear . . . . The proper study of lawsuits begins with the litigants
themselves, with the motivations of real men and women in the past.
[What is required] is a thick description of the context of individual cases,
. . . an exhaustive search of prior legal controversies, family relationships,
position in community, and the like.®

Cases which tested the limits of colonial justice are important both for what they might

reveal about contemporary perceptions and expectations of the courts, and for what they

5(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1994).

Peter Hoffer, “Honor and the Roots of American Litigiousness,” American Journal
of Legal History 33 (1989), at p. 301.
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can tell us about the quality of justice rendered in the society under review. The Market

Wharf litigation is one such case.’

The Context of the Dispute, 1751-1785

It goes without saying that the existence of wharves is crucial to the functioning
of any port city. In the Halifax of the 1750s, summoned into existence by imperial fiat
for purely strategic reasons, wharves were in short supply. The government was prepared
to construct some facilities for naval purposes, but others were needed for commercial
purposes. The Governor and Council moved quickly to licence the construction of a
number of wharves along the waterfront, and on 1 July 1751 one John Grant was
empowered to construct a wharf opposite George Street. He did so, and added a house
to the premises as well. His heirs sold part of the property to merchant Charles Mason
for £60 in 1756, who died in 1763 leaving a widow and two young daughters, Margaret
and Amelia.® By will he left all his realty to his widow, but upon her remarriage to his

daughters equally. It is Amelia, born in 1755, who will be of particular interest, since she

"Prior to the dispute, the wharf was known as "Grant’s Wharf" and subsequently as
"Ott’s Wharf." During the course of the dispute the Cochrans invariably called the wharf
"Cochran’s Wharf," while the Beamishes invariably called it "Beamish’s Wharf.” It was
also known as the "Market Wharf," which is the title used here, unless the context
demands otherwise.

8Will of Charles Mason, N.S.A.R.M., Halifax Co. Wills 1749-86, reel 19357, no. 127.
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would become the grandmother of Beamish Murdoch and a key figure in the eventual

litigation over the wharf.?

The widow Mason and her two young daughters continued to inhabit the house on
the wharf until Mrs. Mason remarried in 1764. Her second husband, victualler Frederick
Ott, eventually acquired many properties in and around the town of Halifax, including the
other part of the wharf formerly owned by John Grant, which now came to be called Ott’s
Wharf. Having no children of his own, Ott treated his step-daughters as his own kin.

In 1770 15-year-old Amelia Mason married Thomas Beamish, who had come to
Halifax from Ireland a few years before. Thomas and Amelia occupied the wharf with
their growing family, and in 1780 Thomas bought out the half share of Amelia’s sister
in the part of the wharf which the two women owned as devisees of Charles Mason. The
other part, which had been purchased by Frederick Ott, was left by him in his will to all
his step-grand-children, born and to be born, in equal shares, with the parents to hold the
shares of their children in trust until the age of majority. Ott left all his other land-
holdings subject to the same trust. Thomas and Amelia took possession of all these
properties at Ott’s death in 1783, none of their children having reached the age of
majority. Margaret’s only child having died young, Thomas and Amelia’s children were

the only beneficiaries of the Ott estate.

9A1l information about the Nova Scotia side of the dispute comes from the case file
in the Court of Chancery fonds at the N.S.A.R-M., RG 36A, box 24, no. 138, unless
otherwise stated. Sources for the Privy Council appeal will be cited at the appropriate
point. The accuracy of most of the information has been confirmed by cross-checking
newspaper records, genealogies and land records in the registry of deeds.
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Presumably Ott by-passed his step-daughters because he believed he had

advantaged them sufficiently during his own lifetime; possibly too he feared that his
property might be seized for the future debts of his sons-in-law.' He imposed two
conditions on his devise, one precedent and one subsequent. His grandchildren were
required to take the name of Ott at the age of majority in order for their share to vest in
possession. Such a clause was an echo of the "name and arms" clause sometimes found
in English wills, whereby a childless testator would provide for the continuation of his
name by a form of testamentary adoption, at a time when adoption was not recognized
in law. All the grandchildren were scrupulous about adding the name Ott to their own
family name. Thus Beamish Murdoch’s mother was known as Elizabeth Ott Beamish
before her marriage and Elizabeth Ott Murdoch afterwards. The second condition was
less benign, although common enough at the time. Perhaps concerned that his generosity
to his grandchildren might foster a spirit of unwonted independence, Ott provided that any
grand-daughter who married without her parents’ consent would lose her share."!

At Frederick Ott’s death, then, Thomas Beamish came into possession of the entire

wharf property, both the "Mason portion” and the "Ott portion,” though by three different

"This interpretation is supported by comparing Ott’s 1780 will with his 1774 will,
which the later will revoked (see Halifax County Court of Probate, no. 023). In 1774 Ott
had left all his property to his daughters, subject only to a life interest in favour of his
widow. The gift to the daughters contained no clause reserving it to their separate use,
free from their husband’s control. Had this will remained unrevoked, the assets of the Ott
estate would likely have disappeared into the hands of Thomas and Amelia’s creditors.

U'will of Frederick Ott, 1 June 1780, Halifax County Court of Probate, no. 022. The
will may be read at one point as imposing this condition on all the grand-children,
regardless of sex, but at another point it is only females who are mentioned.
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titles: as trustee for his children of the Ott portion; with regard to the Mason portion, by
the jus mariti with respect to Amelia’s personal half share,'? and as owner only with
respect to the half share which he had bought from his sister-in-law. Thomas was thus
free to use only the latter interest as security for his debts. These began to mount just as
Ott died, when the Halifax economy experienced a sharp contraction at the end of the
war. Thomas’s countrymen, the Irish-born trio of Thomas, William and James Cochran,
were his principal financiers, and they had advanced him at least £1100 by 1784, when
the solvency of the Beamishes began to be a concern.

The Cochrans began to demand security for the sums which they had advanced.
Thomas and Amelia could mortgage their own interests in the Mason portion of the
wharf, but they had been given no power under Frederick Ott’s will to sell or mortgage
their children’s interests in the Ott portion or in Ott’s other lands. In England such
deficiencies were sometimes rectified by a private Act of Parliament - indeed, much
Parliamentary time in the eighteenth century was spent fine-tuning family settlements.
Thomas Beamish duly explored this route, appearing with counsel before the House of
Assembly on 10 November 1784 in support of "A Bill to enable Thomas Beamish to sell
Real Estate of Frederick Ott." Thomas Cochran had been named speaker at the beginning

of the session on 1 November, but stood down on 12 November in order to speak in the

12Upon marriage, the common law dictated that Amelia’s share came under the control
of her husband for their joint lives. He could not dispose of it without her consent,
however, and if she outlived him, as happened, she would regain full power to deal with
it on her own.
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debate on the bill held that day. Amended and passed by the House, the bill did not

secure the approval of the Council. The Beamishes edged closer to the precipice.”

The First Chancery Decree and its Aftermath, 1785-1802

The legislative door having closed, the Beamishes tried the last route open to them
- the judicial.'" In February 1785 an application was made to Chancery to remove the
named executors, John Loader and James Stephens, to confirm Thomas and Amelia as
sole trustees, and to give them power to sell or mortgage any of the properties in the Ott
estate.’S Normally, if a trust instrument fails to equip trustees with a power of sale or

mortgage, a court has no jurisdiction to add such powers contrary to the wishes of the

3Journals and Proceedings of the House of Assembly of Nova Scotia, vol. 6 (1783-
84), pp. 67, 69.

14An earlier impediment had arisen in that the executors named in Frederick Ott’s will
no longer resided in Nova Scotia and declined to act. In view of their absence, the Court
of Probate appointed Thomas Beamish as administrator with the will annexed of the estate
of Frederick Ott, by order dated 30 September 1783.

'5The original Chancery file, Thomas and Amelia Beamish v. John Loader and James
Stephens, is found at PANS, RG 36A, box 13, no. 65.
There is now a considerable modern literature on the origins and evolution of the
Nova Scotia Court of Chancery, in addition to Charles J. Townshend’s History of the
Court of Chancery in Nova Scotia (Toronto: Carswell, 1900). See Barry Cahill, "Bleak
House Revisited: The Records and Papers of the Court of Chancery of Nova Scotia,
1751-1855" Archivaria 29 (1989-90), p. 149; and his "From [mperium To Colony:
Reinventing a Metropolitan Legal Institution in Late Eighteenth-Century Nova Scotia,"
in D.W. Nichol et al., eds. Transatlantic Crossings: Eighteenth-Century Explorations (St.
John’s: MUN, 1995); Jim Cruickshank, "The Chancery Court of Nova Scotia: Jurisdiction
and Procedure, 1751-1855", Dalhousie Journal of Legal Studies 1 (1992), p. 27; Philip
Girard, "Married Women’s Property, Chancery Abolition and Insolvency Law: Law
Reform in Nova Scotia, 1820-1867," in Girard and Phillips, Nova Scotia Essays.
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settlor or testator. There were (and are) some exceptions to this rule, however, and the
Beamishes tried to bring their case within one of them.

The bill of complaint filed by Thomas and Amelia alleged that Ott was
incapacitated and had been neglecting his property for years before his death, and that
much of it was now in need of substantial repair. The Beamishes thus justified their
request for powers of sale and mortgage on what is now known in the law of trusts as the
salvage or emergency jurisdiction.'® The court granted the Beamishes a wide power to
deal with the lands: they could sell or mortgage such part of the Ott estate’s lands as they
saw fit, "for the purpose of raising money for the Repairs and Improvements of the
Remainder.” The effect of such conveyances was stated to be "sufficient in Law to create
to such purchasers . . . an Estate in Fee Simple forever. And such Deeds . . . shall stand
free and unimpeached by the defendants . . . or by the children of the plaintiffs . . . or by
any other person or persons whatsoever." The final decree issued on 31 March 1785, the
cause having been heard by Governor John Parr sitting as Chancellor, assisted by Richard
Bulkeley, Master of the Rolls, and Foster Hutchinson, Master in Chancery.

Armed with this decree, the Beamishes then began a mad scramble to keep
creditors from the door. They mortgaged the wharf and some other Ott properties to the

Cochrans in August and November, and mortgaged the wharf again for £233 to Thomas

6il] E. Martin, Hanbury and Martin’s Modemn Equity, 14th ed. (London: Sweet &
Maxwell, 1993), pp. 601-02. By the later nineteenth century the jurisdiction was very

sparingly exercised (see In_re Jackson (1882), 21 Ch. D. 786), but in the eighteenth
century it seems to have been employed more freely, especially in cases involving the
property of infants; Inwood v. Twyne (1762), 1 Amb. 417, 27 ER. 279; John David

Chambers, A Practical Treatise on the Jurisdiction of the High Court of Chancery over
the Persons and Property of Infants (London: Saunders & Benning, 1842), p. 538.
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Craine, a Jamaican merchant, in December 1785. They sold outright a number of
properties in the "North Suburbs” of the town, including one to the newly arrived loyalist
and Attorney General Sampson Salter Blowers.

It was all to no avail. In Trinity Term 1786 Peter McNab and London merchant
Brook Watson recovered judgments for some £900 against Thomas Beamish, and
subsequently had him committed to the common jail at Halifax. In May 1787 McNab
consented to Beamish’s release only on his paying £200 down on his debt plus making
over title to a Water Street property near the wharf. At the same time the Cochrans
administered the coup de grice: by deed dated 21 April 1787 the Beamishes
unconditionally sold Ott’s wharf to the Cochrans for a consideration expressed to be
£1400. The Cochrans then took the precaution of having a confirmatory Crown grant
issued to themselves, since there had been some confusion about the exact nature of the
interest created by Crown grants for wharf purposes in the past.'” After the Cochrans
took possession, the Beamishes moved to Cole Harbour, a small fishing village a few
miles east of Halifax, where one of Ott’s properties had survived the shipwreck of the
Beamish fortunes. A few properties elsewhere had also survived unscathed, so the
Beamishes were not destitute, but undoubtedly their prospects were much reduced.

By 1792 Thomas Beamish was, in the words of the ballad, "a broken man on a
Halifax pier." He appears to have abandoned Halifax and his family about this time,

leaving Amelia in a difficult position. She was now 37 years old and responsible for the

'"Halifax Registry of Deeds, RG 47, vol.24, p. 309 (deed from Beamish to McNab,
22 May 1787, reciting Beamish "now" in jail); RG 47, vol. 26, p. 199 (deed from Thomas
and Amelia Beamish to Cochrans, 21 April 1787).
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nine children who survived from the fourteen born to her and Thomas. All were under
the age of majority and the youngest was but a few months old. Aided by the revenues
produced by the remaining properties from the Ott estate, as well as a few properties
which she owned in her own right, Amelia managed to support her family. Thomas’s
absence at least meant that she could control these lands without any interference from
him, and indeed she did not hesitate to describe herself as a widow in a deed of 1801."

After assuring her family’s survival, Amelia’s ultimate goal was to recover the Ott
properties which had been left to her children. She harboured an acute sense of grievance
against the Cochrans, whom she alleged to have procured the 1787 deed by duress when
Thomas was in debtors’ prison. A decade would pass before her older children were in
any position to assist her in launching legal action to contest the Cochrans’ ownership of
the wharf. Her eldest son Frederick came of age about 1794, but became a mariner and
spent much time at sea until he settled at Blandford, Lunenburg County, about 1800. The
next and only other surviving son, Thomas, came of age about 1801. In October 1799
Amelia acquired two sons-in-law who, through the common law doctrine of jus mariti,
had a clear pecuniary incentive to assist Amelia in her mission. Elizabeth Ott Beamish

married merchant Andrew Murdoch of Halifax, while her sister Margaret married

8Hfalifax Registry of Deeds, RG 47, vol. 35, p. 607, deed from Amelia Beamish to
William Sabatier and Foster Hutchinson, 29 May 1801. In theory the common law did
not allow a married woman’s legal identity to revive upon the mere absence, as opposed
to the death, of her husband, but colonial attitudes seem to have been fairly relaxed on
this point. Amelia acted as a feme sole (unmarried woman) from the time of Thomas’s
disappearance, in spite of the fact that her children deposed during litigation in 1804 that
they did not know whether their father was alive or dead.
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merchant Thomas Akins of Liverpool. Both men assisted their new relations in preparing

for litigation.

The Dispute Erupts, 1802-1816

By 1801 the Beamishes were prepared to go on the offensive. Thomas Cochran,
the patriarch, had just died, so they named as defendants only his younger brothers James
and William as surviving partners. [t is hard to avoid the inference that the Beamishes
were waiting for Thomas’s death to bring their action. He was, after all, a member of the
Council, on which the Chief Justice also sat. The latter would likely be involved in the
Supreme Court action which the Beamishes wished to launch, and might well be asked
to assist the Lieutenant Governor, sitting as Chancellor, if there were further proceedings
in Chancery.

The usual way of trying title at common law was an action in ejectment in the
Supreme Court, which the eight surviving Beamish children (plus the husbands of two of
the daughters) duly launched; Amelia was not a party to the action. No doubt they
anticipated the Cochrans’ next move, which was to apply to the Chancellor for an
injunction preventing the Beamishes from proceeding with their suit at law until the
Cochrans’ bill of complaint against them could be heard. Filed on 3 February 1802, the
bill rehearsed the sequence of events outlined above. The Cochrans’ position was that all
the money advanced to the Beamishes was used either to repair the wharf, which was in
a ruinous condition at Frederick Ott’s death, or to improve Ott’s property at Cole

Harbour. The mortgages securing those amounts were thus valid exercises of the power
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conferred by the Chancery decree of March 1785. When the Beamishes fell behind on

those mortgages, the Cochrans were within their rights in taking the wharf in full
settlement by the deed of April 1787, and they were protected by the 1785 decree from
the claims of the Beamish children or anyone else. The injunction issued as a matter of
coursc a month later.

It took the Beamishes over two years to file their answer, which was dated 7 April
1804 and filed 15 August 1804. No doubt the delay is explicable both by ongoing
financial difficulties and by personal tragedies which intervened. Amelia’s daughter
Elizabeth Ott Murdoch, alive in April 1803, is described as "lately dead” in the answer
a year later, while her husband Andrew was imprisoned for debt in June 1803. Thomas
Akins, meanwhile, bought out the interest of the adult Beamishes in one of the Ott estate
properties in dispute (not the wharf) for £100, probably in order to help finance the
lawsuit."
In their answer the Beamishes differed with the Cochrans on some crucial matters
of fact and alleged other facts not mentioned by the complainants. They denied that the
wharf was in a decayed state at Frederick Ott’s death. Ott, they alleged, was an
industrious man who took care of his property, and the annual income of his estate was
£750, which was adequate to support him and keep his property in repair. The Cochrans
induced Thomas and Amelia Beamish to apply for the Chancery decree of 1785, which

was "procured by the Interest and Influence of the said Complainants ... for the express

YHalifax Registry of Deeds, RG 47, vol. 35, p. 607, deed from Frederick Ott Beamish
et al. to Thomas Akins, 19 April 1803.
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and only purpose of enabling them to apply the property of the Defendants to the payment

of a Debt the said Complainants . . . considered to be otherwise desperate.” Thomas, they
said, was "well known to the [Cochrans] to be unfortunate by lapses in Trade,"” and the
Cochrans took advantage of him when imprisoned in 1787 to procure the deed to the
wharf. Thomas and Amelia only agreed to sign in order to secure his liberation and
because they were assured that the deed would not affect their children’s rights. In
addition, Thomas by this point was "totally unfit to manage his own concemns,” an
ambiguous reference which nonetheless fits with his unexplained departure a few years
later.®

The answer of the Beamishes raised three distinct legal arguments, only the first
of which depended on the court believing their story about the “real” purposes to which
the money was put. If the mortgages were granted to the Cochrans only to secure
Thomas and Amelia’s personal debts and not in connection with repairing estate property,
arguably the mortgages were not within the scope of the 1785 decree. If the Cochrans
knew these facts to be true, then they would not be able to enforce the mortgages in
equity or to rely on the deed of 1787 as a "settlement” of those mortgages. Even the
confirmatory Crown grant was invalid on this reasoning: obtained on the basis of wilfully
incomplete information, it should be set aside.

Alternatively, Chancery had a broad jurisdiction in the eighteenth century to

relieve the vulnerable from the consequences of imprudent transactions. In addition to

297t is not clear whether the respondents meant that Beamish was mentally incompetent
or simply a poor businessman.



60
the description of Thomas’s difficult state, the Beamishes’ answer painted Amelia Ott
Beamish as a struggling but vulnerable figure, borne down by the oppressive action of the
Cochrans. She "did use every argument she was capable of and even Tears to dissuade
the said Complainants . . . from their unjustifiable Attempt upon the Property of her
Children." Further, she admorished

that if she lived to see her children grow up, she would inform them of the
aforesaid circumstances, and do every thing in her power to defeat the
unjust Intentions of the said Complainants, and that although her children
were Infants borne down by poverty, distress and the unfeeling proceedings
of the Complainants, she entertained the Hope the day would come, when
Justice should be rendered them, and their Property, thus unjustly wrested
from them, restored.
This kind of heartfelt appeal was permissible only in Chancery and would never be
encountered in the more formulaic pleadings of the common law courts. It is precisely
the more verbose Chancery pleadings which are so useful to the modemn historian, though
productive of much of the delay lamented by contemporaries.
Finally, the Beamishes invoked, albeit elliptically, the argument that the deed of
1787, although an absolute conveyance on its face, was intended by the parties to be only
a mortgage. This equitable doctrine, epitomized in the maxim, "once a mortgage, always

a mortgage,” dated back to the mid-seventeenth century at least, and is occasionally

invoked even today.? Acceptance of this argument would allow the Beamishes to

2joseph A. Roach, The Canadian Law of Mortgages of Land (Toronto: Butterworths,
1993), pp. 59-61. The doctrine was affirmed with some vehemence by the Supreme
Court of Canada as recently as 1977: Petranik v. Dale, [1977] 2 Supreme Court Reports
959. On the origins of the doctrine, see David Sugarman and Ronnie Warrington, "Land
law, citizenship, and the invention of ‘Englishness.” The strange world of the equity of
redemption,” in John Brewer and Susan Staves, eds., Early Modemn Conceptions of
Property (London: Routledge, 1995). It was invoked in a number of cases in Upper
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reclaim the wharf once they had acquitted their debts to the Cochrans, with interest since

1787.

What exactly was the Cochrans’ "Interest and Influence” of which the Beamishes
complained? The three brothers had arrived from the north of Ireland with their father
Joseph circa 1765, about the same time as Thomas Beamish. They arrived in the province
early enough to benefit from large grants (26,750 acres in Amherst Township alone), and
between property speculation and a large mercantile business in Halifax amassed a
considerable fortune in a relatively brief period of time. The three brothers, but especially
Thomas, became part of an Irish clique which dominated provincial life until the coming
of the loyalists and afterwards. Thomas Cochran sat in the House of Assembly for
Liverpool Township from 1775 until 1785, when he was elevated to the Council.? His
younger brother William then sat for Halifax Township from 1785-1816. In the years just
before the loyalist arrival, the province was effectively ruled by the Irish-born
"duumvirate” composed of Chief Justice Bryan Finucane (1778-1785) and the Hon.
Richard Bulkeley, Master of the Rolls and Provincial Secretary. Finucane championed

the interests of the Irish merchants and was substantially indebted to Thomas Cochran, for

Canada in the early nineteenth century, one of which also went to the Privy Council;
R.C.B. Risk, “The Golden Age: The Law about the Market in Nineteenth-Century

Ontario,” University of Toronto Law Journal 26 (1976), pp. 330-31.

ZFor an example of the kind of influence which Cochran exercised as an
assemblyman, see Brian Cuthbertson, Johnny Bluenose at the Polls: Epic Nova Scotian
Election Battles, 1758-1848 (Halifax: Formac, 1994), pp. 176-77.



62
whom he lobbied hard for a Council seat. Govemor Parr, also an Irishman, has been

portrayed as something of a pawn in the hands of Finucane and Bulkeley.?

At the time that Thomas and Amelia Beamish sought the Chancery decree of 1785,
Thomas Cochran was Speaker of the Assembly. He would be named to the Council three
months after the decree. Parr as Chancellor was advised by Bulkeley and Foster
Hutchinson, a former Massachusetts judge who had come to Halifax in 1776.* Chief
Justice Finucane did not formally attend the hearing, as Supreme Court judges were
sometimes requested to do, but Parr admitted that he normally sought Finucane’s advice
on matters of law; as a military man he had little interest in Chancery affairs.”

A number of other factors support the Beamishes’ allegation that the decree was
procured at the instance of the Cochrans for their own purposes rather than instigated by
Thomas and Amelia. Counsel for Thomas and Amelia were the Crown law officers,
Attomey General Sampson Salter Blowers and Solicitor General Richard John Uniacke,
acting in their private capacities. Uniacke was definitely associated with the Cochran-
Finucane-Bulkeley clique at this time. He was the protégé of Finucane, who had arranged
for his appointment as Solicitor General in 1781. Moreover, Uniacke had acted for the

Cochrans in other matters since at least 1783, and later served as counsel to the Cochrans

BThis interpretation follows that of Barry Cahill, "’Fide et fortitudine vivo’: The
Career of Chief Justice Bryan Finucane,” Nova Scotia Historical Society Collections 42
(1986), p. 153.

“Bylkeley had been named Master of the Rolls, a sort of deputy judge in Chancery,
in 1782, at which time Hutchinson had replaced him as Master in Chancery, which was
more of an administrative post; Cahill, "Imperium to Colony," pp. 15-18.

BCahill, "Finucane," p. 163.
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during their Chancery suit against the Beamishes. His actions would not have been seen
as embodying a conflict of interest by contemporary standards, but it is clear that his
primary role in this matter was to protect the interests of the Cochrans rather than the
Beamishes.

The 1785 proceeding, an action by the Beamishes against the executors named in
Ott’s will, Loader and Stephens, was adversarial in form only. The answer of John
Loader was made by "Thomas Cochran, the said Defendant’s Agent and friend,” and filed
with the consent of Uniacke. There was in substance no dispute at all: the "complaint”
was really just an opportunity to bring the matter before the court to vary the terms of the
trust, ultimately to the Cochrans’ benefit. Even granting that the salvage jurisdiction was
exercised more freely in the eighteenth century than later, the responsibility of the Court
of Chancery was to protect the interests of Thomas and Amelia’s children. The decree,
however, imposed no effective constraints on the parents’ ability to sell their children’s
property, and no mechanism to ensure that any money secured by such sales would be
used for the authorized purposes. The Court might have directed a Master in Chancery
to carry out periodic accounts of the proceeds of any sales, but without such a safeguard
it was entirely predictable that the Beamishes’ creditors, not their children, would benefit
from sales of the Ott estate properties.

The argument made by the Beamish children in 1804, that the 1785 decree was
part of a plot orchestrated by the Cochrans to secure the Ott properties for the payment
of the parents’ debts, is quite plausible. Thomas and Amelia were not totally innocent

in this affair, and in their desperation may have perjured themselves if the allegations in
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their children’s answer to the Cochrans’ bill, regarding the state of Ott’s property in 1785,

were accurate. Nonetheless, they were being guided through the maze of Chancery by
someone whose interests were directly in conflict with their own, arguably with the
knowledge and acquiescence of at least some of the judges concerned.

On the basis of their answer to the Cochrans’ petition, counsel for the Beamishes,
the prominent Loyalist lawyer Simon Bradstreet Robie, moved that the injunction be
dissolved, thus allowing the ejectment action in the Supreme Court to proceed. Lieutenant
Govemor Sir John Wentworth, acting as Chancellor, ordered on 14 August 1804 that the
injunction be dissolved unless cause were shown to the contrary within 21 days. Uniacke,
now Attorney General but still acting in his private capacity, filed an appearance on 5
September stating that he wished to oppose the order for dissolution, but no date for a
hearing was set. For unknown reasons, the proceeding remained paralyzed for the next
seven years. On the face of it, the injunction should have been dissolved when the terms
of the order of 14 August were not met. Yet this did not happen, since in 1811 the
Beamishes were asking anew that the injunction be dissolved.

There are a number of possible explanations for this long hiatus. It may be that
the parties began settlement negotiations which dragged on longer than expected.
Certainly the Beamish clan, who now resided at Blandford and Liverpool as well as
Halifax, were an unwieldy group for purposes of client consultation. Andrew Murdoch’s
protracted stay in debtors’ prison, until some time in 1808, probably complicated matters.
Margaret Ott Akins died in 1809, her death a tragic echo of her sister’s six years earlier.

Both Elizabeth and Margaret died not long after giving birth to their only sons, Beamish
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Murdoch and Thomas Beamish Akins, who each in turn was taken in by his grandmother

Amelia. Each boy inherited his mother’s interest in the Ott estate, subject to his father’s
entitlement to it for life, pursuant to the common law doctrine of curtesy.

Another complicating factor was the fact that Lieutenant Governor Wentworth was
succeeded by Sir George Prevost in 1808. When Prevost came out to Nova Scotia, he was
accompanied by his private secretary Samuel Hood George, who was none other than
Thomas Cochran’s grandson. Prevost promoted his protégé to the post of Provincial
Secretary as soon as it became vacant. Samuel Hood was the son of Sir Rupert George,
who was on very good terms with Prevost, and Margaret Cochran, Cochran’s eldest
daughter.” It may be that the Beamishes despaired of a fair hearing before a Chancellor
who was on such terms of intimacy with the Cochran family, and preferred to wait for
Prevost’s departure.

Whatever the reasons, the delay could only be of benefit to the Cochrans. As they
were the parties in possession and the parties who had commenced the Chancery suit, they
were essentially in control. However, in spite of their intimacy with the Prevost regime,
the political situation had shifted since those halcyon days in the 1780s when the
Cochrans ruled the province. The Loyalist influx had rearranged the political situation,
and the Loyalists had seen their efforts for recognition crowned with success in the

appointment of John Wentworth as Lieutenant Governor in 1792 and Sampson Salter

2%6Gamuel Hood George died prematurely in 1813 and was succeeded as Provincial
Secretary by his brother Rupert Denis, who remained an important figure in the province
until the achievement of responsible government, when he retired to England. Letters by
Samuel Hood George in the George Fonds at N.S.A.R-M., MG 1, vol. 2160, reveal the
closeness of the ties between the George family and Prevost.
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Blowers as Chief Justice in 1797. The Cochrans remained on reasonably good terms with
the emergent Loyalist political hierarchy, but their principal power base had been in the
preloyalist population, and their "Interest and Influence” were slowly diminishing, if by
no means gone.

It is perhaps illustrative of this trend that all of Thomas Cochran’s sons made their
careers outside the province. Two studied at the Inns of Court and secured judicial
appointments, Thomas Jr. as Chief Justice of Prince Edward Island and James (later Sir
James) as Chief Justice of Gibraltar.”” The third, William, went into the military and
served in imperial wars around the globe. Thomas’s daughters were better connected
locally, at least in the short term. Margaret, as mentioned, married a naval officer and
became the mother of two provincial secretaries. Elizabeth married John Inglis, son of
the "first Bishop,” who would become Bishop of Nova Scotia in his turn in 1825.

If the Loyalists were successful in exerting their influence politically, they were
also having a marked impact on the bar and the judiciary, an impact which would be felt
in the Cochran-Beamish litigation. Finucane’s death in 1785 had left the judiciary in
some disarray, and the preloyalist bar, aside from a few leading lights such as Uniacke,
was relatively undistinguished. An influx of the cream of the pre-revolutionary New

England bars in the 1780s changed the situation dramatically. The most obvious fallout

Z"Thomas Jr. studied at Lincoln’s Inn and was called to the bar in England in 1801.
After a year as Chief Justice of P.E.I. he was named an assistant judge in Upper Canada,
but drowned in the wreck of the vessel Speedy in October 1804. James was first admitted
to the bar in Nova Scotia in 1817, then to the bar of the Inner Temple in 1829. He
became Attorney General of Gibraltar in 1837 and served as its Chief Justice 1841-1877.
A.W.H. Eaton, The Cochran-Inglis Family (Halifax: C.H. Ruggles, 1899). Brendan
O’Brien, Speedy Justice (Toronto: Osgoode Society, 1992), passim.
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of this change was the "judges’ affair” of 1787-88, which pitted the newly arrived

Loyalist lawyers against the somewhat hapless judges who remained on the Supreme
Court after the demise of Chief Justice Finucane.

Provincial history has tended to emphasize the political aspects of the struggles
between Loyalists and preloyalists in Nova Scotia. Yet there were positive aspects to the
arrival of the Loyalist lawyers. While they certainly fought for their share of patronage,
they also breathed new life into the bar, and insisted upon more exacting standards of
professional competence. In selecting one of these lawyers, Simon Bradstreet Robie, as
their counsel, the preloyalist Beamishes were paying tribute to the reputation of the
Loyalist bar, and shrewdly acknowledging their strong position in the new judicial and
political order of the province.

The change was perhaps even more noticeable in the judiciary than in the bar.
After the death of Finucane, Governor Parr pleaded with London to send him a worthy
successor from England. Parr has been criticized for not recommending a loyalist for the
post, but in view of the strained relations between Loyalist and preloyalist at this point
in provincial history, it would have been impossible for a candidate from either "camp"
to fulfill the role adequately.”® Under the circumstances the appointment of a candidate

from England with close ties to neither group was probably the wisest course if the office

2Neil MacKinnon, This Unfriendly Soil: the Lovalist Experience in Nova Scotia,
1783-1791 (Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 1986), p. 127. In

fact, Parr did recommend the Loyalist Blowers for the post when it fell vacant again a
year later (see note 30), but Strange had been appointed before his letter reached London;
see P.R.O., C.0. 217/61/173 (mfm. at N.S.A.R.M.), cited in Barry Cahill, "Henry
Dundas’ Plan for Reforming the Judicature of British North America, 1792," University
of New Brunswick Law Journal 39 (1990), note 22.
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of chief justice was to preserve any claim to impartiality. Thomas Andrew Strange,
although young and untried, ultimately rose to the challenge.”” By the time he left the
province in 1796 he had enhanced the image of the Supreme Court and taken steps to
improve standards at the bar, most notably by donating his collection of law books to
serve as the nucleus of a barristers’ library.

Strange provided the bridge to the appointment of Sampson Salter Blowers as the
first Loyalist chief justice. Blowers, a scion of the pre-revolutionary Massachusetts bar,
was a good choice. Extremely competent and authoritative, he was able to rise above the
bickering between Loyalist and preloyalist, and was seen as administering justice fairly
according to law. His role in the Beamish litigation was decisive.

In May 1811 the Beamishes attempted to revive the case by asking anew that the
injunction, preventing them from continuing their ejectment suit, be dissolved. The
complainants responded with a petition to make the injunction permanent, and it was
Blowers who endorsed the petition "A day should be given for hearing the petition." Yet
once again nothing happened. Prevost was promoted to Governor-in-chief and left
Halifax for Quebec in the fall, to be replaced as lieutenant-governor by Sir John Coape
Sherbrooke. The Beamishes waited for three more years, until December 1814, to petition
him to have the bill dismissed for want of prosecution. Finally, a year later, Lieutenant
Governor Sherbrooke, assisted by Blowers, heard counsel on both sides on the substance

of the complaint. Sherbrooke ruled that three Halifax merchants should act as

BStrange was preceded as chief justice by another Englishman, the Hon. Jeremy
Pemberton, but he remained in the province for less than a year (1788-89) and departed
for reasons of health.
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commissioners to audit the accounts of the Beamish Wharf since 1785, and that the
injunction be dissolved. The commissioners moved much more speedily than anyone ever
had before in this lawsuit; appointed on 27 November 1815, they filed their report on 10
January 1816.

In effect, the Beamishes had already won, even though counsel presented further
arguments in February, and the final decretal order did not issue until 26 April 1816.
Given the politically sensitive nature of the allegations, it was not surprising that the order
was embellished with only the briefest of reasons. The court accepted the third of the
arguments advanced by the Beamishes, which imputed no actual wrongdoing to the
Cochrans and evaded any questions about the validity of the 1785 Chancery decree.
Although the deed of 1785 to the Cochrans was absolute on its face, stated the court, in
equity it was intended to function at most as a lien or mortgage. The auditors found that
the Cochrans had spent £6454 repairing the wharf and building premises thereon over the
period 1787-1815, while receiving £9603 in rentals over that period, leaving a surplus of
£3149 to the credit of the Beamishes. Against that the Cochrans had to be credited with
the £3950 they had advanced to Thomas and Amelia by way of loan (with interest),
leaving a balance owing to the Cochrans of £802. On payment of this sum by the
Beamishes, the court ordered the Cochrans to reconvey the wharf. Receivers were
appointed to manage the property pending the final reconveyance, or, as it turned out, in

case of an appeal.
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The Appeal to the King in Council, 1816-1820

The Cochran brothers were determined to resist. Within three days they gave
notice that they would launch an appeal. Appeals from the Atlantic colonies to the King
in Council at this period were not common, but nor were they unknown. During the
years that the Cochrans’ appeal was underway, several other petitions from the region to
the King in Council were dealt with: another one from Nova Scotia, two from Prince
Edward Island, and five from Newfoundland. Litigants from the Caribbean were by far
the most likely to invoke the process. On the same day that the Cochrans’ arguments
were heard, two petitions from Lower Canada and four from Jamaica were dealt with, and
in 1821 alone 32 petitions from the Caribbean were considered. That the Cochrans chose
to appeal probably attests more to the symbolic affront to their power and status and a
concern with familial reputation, than to the value of the property as such. James and
William Cochran were two childless old men, aged 75 and 65 by 1816, but they had the
honour of their nieces and nephews, Thomas’s progeny, to uphold.*

Once again, though, matters seemed to drag. The Cochrans filed the bond for
£500 required as security for costs on the appeal on 17 January 1817, but on 5 May 1818

the Beamishes sought enforcement of the Chancery decree and forfeiture of the bond on

®The progress of appeals to the King in Council can be traced through the annual
Privy Council Registers at the Public Record Office, London, where they are classified
under PC 2. The volumes relevant for this appeal begin with vol. 198 (1816); each
subsequent year is numbered consecutively. Petitioners were obliged to submit to the
committee a printed record including the entire proceedings in the courts below as well
as the arguments of counsel, and these are still held by the office of the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council in Downing Street, where they can be consulted with the
permission of the Registrar. Unfortunately, the only gap in the last two centuries covers
the decade 1815-25, so that the record submitted by the Cochrans does not survive.
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the basis that the appeal had not been prosecuted. William Cochran replied via Uniacke

that he could not get copies of the whole file made until January 1817, but that they had
immediately been sent off at that time, and that his London counsel had been instructed
to bring on the matter as soon as possible. This sounds plausible, as the Order in Council
referring the appeal to the Committee for hearing Appeals from the Plantations was dated
13 August 1817. In view of the steps taken by the appellants, Lord Dalhousie, now
Lieutenant Governor, noted that he could not allow the Chancery decree to be enforced
"until the decision [of the King in Council] be known."

The identity of the Cochrans’ counsel shows just how seriously they took the
appeal. Sir Samuel Romilly, the political radical and noted criminal law reformer, was
at the zenith of his political and legal career in the second decade of the nineteenth
century. Solicitor General in the Ministry of All the Talents in 1806-07, he was rumoured
to be next in line for the post of Lord Chancellor if the Whigs managed to resume office.
He was undoubtedly the best-known and most successful Chancery practitioner of the day,
with an income reputed to be £16,000 a year. His clients included the Prince of Wales,
the Duke of Kent, Sir Walter Scott, Lady Byron and numerous scions of the English
aristocracy. Romilly was on excellent terms with Lord Eldon, Lord Chancellor from 1801
to 1827, in spite of the wide divergence of their political views.*!

Appeals to the King in Council from colonial courts did not yet go to that body

so familiar to students of Canadian constitutional law, the Judicial Committee of the Privy

3patrick Medd, Romilly: A Life of Sir Samuel Romilly, Lawyer and Reformer
(London: Collins, 1968).
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Council. The Judicial Committee was established by statute in 1833 as part of a series
of wide-ranging reforms to the English judicature.”” From 1696 to 1833, appeals from
the plantations were heard by a standing committee of the whole Council, often called the
Appeals Committee. It was to sit with a quorum of three, and was thus differently
constituted for each cause. Any councillor might attend, and there was no requirement
that any of those present be judges or legally trained, though some legal men usually sat
on each appeal. The lack of any degree of specialization in colonial laws and of any
formal distinction between the Council’s colonial and domestic functions, meant that the
system was seen as increasingly unsatisfactory.” Lord Brougham, a future Lord
Chancellor and severe critic of the pre-1833 system, claimed that he had witnessed
property "worth thirty thousand pounds sterling per annum, disposed of in a few minutes
. . . by the learned members of the Privy Council who reversed a sentence pronounced
by all the [colonial] judges upon no less than nineteen days of anxious discussion."*
The next delay in the proceedings was the fault of no one. Distraught at the death
of his beloved wife Anne, Sir Samuel Romilly slit his throat three days later, on 1

November 1818. New counsel had to be instructed, which again retarded the cause. Back

323 & 4 William IV, c. 41.

3Joseph Henry Smith, Appeals to the Privy Council from the American Plantations
(New York: Columbia University Press, 1950), pp. 323-28.

¥Hansard, Debates H.C. 2nd Ser. XVIII, 7 February 1828, 155, as quoted in David

B Swinfen, Imperial appeal: The debate on the appeal to the Privy Council, 1833-1986
(Manchester University Press, 1987), at p. 6. Lord Brougham was the one of the few
barristers with any regular practice on colonial appeals, according to William Burge,
Observations on the Supreme Appellate Jurisdiction of Great Britain (London, 1841), p.
14.
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in Halifax, William Cochran was left to carry on alone when his brother James died in

1819. The appeal was finally heard on 11 May 1820, by a panel of three highly eminent
judges: Sir William Scott, Sir William Grant, and Sir John Nicholl.*® It is not known
who replaced Sir Samuel Romilly, or who represented the Beamishes; the order of council
merely states that counsel were heard on both sides.”® Did Beamish Murdoch’s erstwhile
principal, Crofton Uniacke, now studying at Lincoln’s Inn, attend the hearing? No doubt
he acted as liaison with London counsel on behalf of his father, who continued to
represent the Cochrans in Halifax.

Four years to conclude the appeal may seem unduly long, but Cochran v. Beamish

et al. in fact did much better than most cases heard by the Privy Council during this
period. Between 1814 and 1826, 517 appeals were lodged, but only one-quarter had been
heard by early 1828; another quarter were abandoned or dismissed for want of
prosecution, and half remained undisposed of.”” Given this dreadful record and the

change in counsel, a four year delay hardly seems a source of complaint.

35gir William Scott (1745-1836) was judge of the London Consistory Court and of the
High Court of Admiralty, and was created Baron Stowell in 1821. Sir William Grant’s
presence was highly prized on colonial appeals. He had been Attorney General of
Quebec, was familiar with a variety of legal systems and took a keen interest in colonial
law; Howell, The Judicial Committee of the Privy Council, pp. 10-11. Sir John Nicholl
(1759-1838), a distinguished civil lawyer, was President of Doctors’ Commons and Dean
of the Arches, a member of Parliament and subsequently judge of the High Court of
Admiralty.

3RG 36A, box 41, file 138, doc. 44a, copy of Order of Council affirming original
decree, 29 May 1820.

’Swinfen, Imperial appeal, pp. 5-6.
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On 29 May the Committee’s decision was read before the Privy Council, who

humbly advised His Majesty that the decree of the Nova Scotia Court of Chancery should
be affirmed.”® Had Romilly survived, his unparallelled standing as a Chancery lawyer
might have persuaded the Committee that the Cochrans were in the right. As it was, the
members of Council sitting around the table had other matters on their mind. The nation
had been in a state of ferment since the massacre at Peterloo the previous summer, and
in February a plot to overthrow the government ("the Cato Street conspiracy”) had been
uncovered. The kingdom was rife with rumours of the impending return from the
continent of Queen Caroline, the long-estranged wife of the new king, George IV having
succeeded his father on 29 January 1820. The rumours were true: Caroline arrived in
England on 5 June, and the ensuing attempt by the King to divorce her and deprive her
of her title made her - improbably - the focus of a popular movement which briefly
threatened to become insurrectionary. Under these circumstances, it is unlikely that
Council members were unduly concerned about the fate of a wharf in far-off Nova Scotia.

Although he could not have known of the result, William Cochran died the day
after the Committee dismissed the appeal. To Beamish Murdoch, the coincidence was a
fitting one. In the precedent-cum-commonplace book he kept during the years 1814-1821,

he made the following solemn inscription: "June 1st 1820. Wm Cochran is dead - died

3Since the role of the Privy Council is to tender advice to the sovereign, the practice
of the Committee hearing colonial appeals was not to give a "judgment” as such. Rather,
its conclusions were formulated as an opinion on the case rendered for the advice of His
Majesty - a formula observed to this day by the Committee’s successor, the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council.



75
3 days ago in the Country. Thus ends the Trio."* The death of the last of the Cochran

brothers coincided, precisely and poeticaily, with the utter failure of their attempt to
crush the Beamish family.

It may be that "the better-informed counsel and judges in the colonies had little
respect for Conciliar decisions” as legal precedents at this time,*® but the order in the
Market Wharf case was implemented in Nova Scotia as if it constituted Holy Writ. The
news of the decision took six weeks or so to reach Halifax. On 24 July 1820 the
Beamishes petitioned to enforce the decree, expressing for the first time a hint of
impatience. They prayed for an early day to hear the petition, "as the Cause has been
pending upwards of eighteen years, to the great loss and injury of your Petitioners."™!
The Court ordered the same day that the receivers appointed in 1816 account for the rents
received, and that the Beamishes show that they had complied with the terms of the 18 16
decree as affirmed; i.e., that they could tender the amount of £802 determined to be owing

the Cochrans. With interest since 1816, this sum now amounted to a round £1000.

¥This manuscript volume, entitled "Forms of the Supreme Court," is held in the Rare
Books Collection of the Sir James Dunn Law Library at Dalhousie University. There is
a conflict in the sources about the exact date of William Cochran’s death, but it was
definitely within the last few days of May 1820. He died while visiting in Truro - thus
"in the Country."

“Howell, Judicial Committee of the Privy Council, p. 9.

“Thomas Ott Beamish and Beamish Murdoch signed the petition on their own behalf
and on behalf of the other defendants, marking the first time that Murdoch had taken an
active role in the proceeding. He had completed his articles with Uniacke in November
1819, and was waiting to reach the age of majority so that he could be admitted as an
attorney, a necessary stage before finally being called as a barrister.
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The final capitulation came in a declaration dated 16 October 1820.

Representatives of the Cochran estate stated that, having been required by the Chancery
decree to "yield up and deliver the peaceable and quiet possession of the Land and
Premises described in the Bill commonly called the Market Wharf or Cochran’s Wharf,"
and to deliver up all relevant title documents in their possession, they now did so on
receipt of £1000 from the Beamishes. For their part, the Beamishes obtained the money
by mortgaging the premises to merchant Samuel Muirhead. Even before the final cession,
Beamish Murdoch was busy writing to various parties in possession of lands formerly part
of the Ott estate, which had been sold by Thomas and Amelia under the authority of the
Chancery decree of 1785. Brandishing the Privy Council’s order confirming the rights
of the Beamishes, Murdoch sought to convince these parties to give up without a fight,
and offered compensation for any improvements made during the period of their
possession.? In fact, the Beamishes had taken a number of ejectment actions in the
Supreme Court against parties who had bought lands on the strength of the 1785 Chancery
decree, and had been successful in many of them. Only the Cochrans and one other party

seem to have resisted by means of a Chancery suit.*

2213 "Forms of the Supreme Court,” there is a draft letter on this matter to the heirs
of one John Charles Rudolf dated 9 September 1820, with reference to a parcel of land
in Lunenburg (facing p. 145), and an undated fragment of a similar letter to one John
Bolman, Esq. at p. 146.

“Thomas Goudge v. Thomas Akins et al., Supreme Court (Halifax), RG 39C, box 27,
no. 154. The Beamishes had obtained an order of ejectment against Goudge in 1804, and
he filed his bill of complaint 29 July 1804. There is no indication that Goudge was
successful, so presumably the Beamishes were left to exercise their rights at law. It is not
clear why these ejectment suits should have been successful at law. The rights of the
Beamishes depending on an equitable doctrine, any subsequent purchasers of the legal
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Justice Delayed - But Not Denied

The significance of the Market Wharf litigation may be assessed on a number of
levels. On the purely biographical plane, it is clear that the victory was a defining
moment in the life of the young Beamish Murdoch. Without the material security
provided by the confirmation of his inheritance, he might still have become a lawyer. It
is unlikely that he could have aspired to contribute to the political, cultural and legal
leadership of his society. The victory had an ideological impact too, confirming for
Murdoch his faith in the perfection of the Nova Scotia constitution. For all his support
of political reform in the 1825-35 decade, Murdoch had a basic faith in provincial
institutions, which meant that he was unlikely to follow those who wanted more
significant change. That faith was based in part on an intense personal experience cf the
law, which he did not hesitate to proclaim publicly. In dedicating his Epitome of the
Laws of Nova-Scotia to the nonagenarian Sampson Salter Blowers, Murdoch wrote of his
respect for the Chief Justice’s "public services, high judicial qualities, and inflexible
integrity, which are interwoven with the author’s earliest recollections.™

At the institutional level, the litigation provides important evidence of changes
over time in the Court of Chancery, and by extension the legal order as a whole. The

experience of Thomas and Amelia Beamish in the 1780s seems to epitomize the

estate should have taken free of an earlier equitable interest provided they had no notice
of it.

44 vols. (Halifax: Joseph Howe, 1832-33), i, p. iii.



78

corruption and oppression of the old oligarchic order, when the "Interest and Influence”
of magnates such as Thomas Cochran could turn the law’s institutions and personnel to
their own private purposes. Thirty years later such influence, while by no means extinct,
seems much reduced. Lord Dalhousie was keen to professionalize the Court of Chancery,
and would have appointed Blowers Master of the Rolls if London had permitted it.*
The appointment of a legally trained Master of the Rolls to preside in Chancery in place
of the Govemnor, and prevent the kinds of delays experienced in the Market Wharf
litigation, was made soon after, in 1825. The post went, appropriately enough, to the
Beamishes’ lawyer, Simon Bradstreet Robie.

The decisive intervention of Chancery in this matter also cautions us about making
generalizations based on experiences in the common law courts alone. The administration
of the common law in the colonial period often appears as a harsh and rigorous exercise
where possessive individualism enjoys free rein. Yet it was tempered in some instances,
as in the Market Wharf case, by equitable doctrines. The law appears Janus-faced:
committed to uphold both the rigour of the common law of contract and conveyancing,
and the flexibility which allowed the clear terms of a duly executed deed of sale to be
interpreted as a mere security arrangement. W.R. Cornish has suggested that between the
common law’s "severely individualistic view of freedom and sanctity of contract” and

equity’s "protective jurisdiction of conscience . . . a peculiar balance was reached which

45Cahill, "Imperium to Colony," p. 19.
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depended on the structure of institutions."® We see this peculiar balance in action in

the Market Wharf case, where it confirms that judges were sometimes compelled to take
into account values other than those of classical liberalism.

In order to assess the wider meaning of the Market Wharf litigation for the legal
culture of British North America, we must return to some of the questions posed at the
beginning of this paper. What did this litigation mean to the participants? Why were
they so tenacious? Why did they not settle? Here we must speculate to some extent,
since the parties did not leave any private papers in which they explained their motivation.
It seems clear that something other than mere money was at stake here. On both sides
matters of honour and reputation were involved. The Beamishes were alleging that the
Cochrans, one of the most highly placed families in the entire province, had acted
oppressively and unjustly. What could the Cochrans do but resist? The Beamishes’
allegations were tantamount to saying that the Cochrans were not "fit and proper persons"”
to hold high office. They had to seek the authoritative determination of a tribunal, the
highest in the land if necessary, in order to uphold their family name. The Cochrans
could easily have afforded to give up the wharf or to make a financial settlement to end
the litigation. But to have settled or resorted to some more informal means of resolution
would have left the insult unaddressed.

For their part, the Beamishes felt their honour was also at stake. Their father had,

they believed, been imposed upon; advantage had been taken while he was in a weakened

%W R. Cornish and G. de N. Clark, Law and Society in England 1750-1950 (London:
Sweet & Maxwell, 1989), p. 202.
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state. Amelia Beamish stated to the court that the Cochrans had assured them that the

deed of 1787 would not affect their children’s interests, and believed that they had either
misled her and her husband, or gone back on their word. In her worldview, restitutio in
integrum by the Cochrans was the only acceptable outcome. The Chancery decree
cleverly managed to give both parties what they sought: restitution to the Beamishes, but
no finding of colourable behaviour on the part of the Cochrans.

In view of the subsequent history of the Market Wharf within the Beamish family,
it is likely that the ancestral nature of the wharf property inspired a particularly ferocious
attachment to it. The wharf was the family’s link to the very founding of Halifax, having
been bought by Amelia’s father soon thereafter. It was Amelia’s home from infancy to
middle age, and she had inherited a part-interest in it as a girl of eight. After 1820 the
wharf remained for over half a century in the hands of a diminishing circle of Beamish
descendants until 1874, when Beamish Murdoch and his cousins Thomas Beamish Akins
and Charles Beamish sold it for $53,200. Land was often spoken of as a mere article of
commerce in the New World, barely distinguishable from chattels, in contrast with the
Old World. Yet the Market Wharf litigation suggests that Nova Scotian families might
feel loyalties to particular parcels of land which would inspire them to undertake lengthy
litigation of the kind described by Elizabeth Bowen in the history of her family’s ancestral
manor in southern Ireland, Bowen’s Court.*

The point of the story for the Beamish family, and very likely for contemporaries,

was that ultimately the Cochrans’ power was constrained by law and was seen to be so

472d ed. (London: Longmans, 1964).
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constrained. “Equity will not suffer a wrong to go without a remedy” was in this case
no hollow boast, when a settled possession of thirty years’ duration might be overturned
to right what was determined to be a historic wrong. Cases such as this, which by
definition must be rare, are nonetheless potent symbols of equality before the law. In a
small jurisdiction such as Nova Scotia, governed by a tiny mercantile and office-holding
élite with which all the judges were tightly connected by bonds of kinship and
intermarriage, achieving even the appearance of equality before the law was no mean feat.
Much of the credit for any improvement in the administration of civil justice between the
1785 and 1815 must go to Blowers, and to the highly professionalized Loyalist bar.

Members of a society judge its legitimacy and that of its government in large part
on the perceived efficacy and fairness of its dispute resolution mechanisms. Much of the
literature on dispute resolution in colonial New England has been concerned to understand
whether seemingly high litigation rates were an index of health or disease. There is a
persuasive argument that high litigation rates indicate a basic satisfaction with the service
on offer. If litigants were not satisfied, they would evade the formal system, possibly in
favour of alternatives less productive of closure and social peace. A near contemporary
of Murdoch, Nathaniel Whitworth White, was struck by the seeming paradox of high
litigation rates and relative social harmony during his apprenticeship at Annapolis Royal.
"There is . . . scarcely an individual that is not in the course of the year either Plaintiff
or Defendant,” he reported to his father in 1815. "And the beauty of it is they do it with
such perfect good humor that like the spatting of two Attornies, their disputes cease and

entire cordiality prevails the instant the suit is decided. In truth they are . .. like man and
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wife, occasional jarrings among them [being] indispensably necessary to cement social
union and render it still stronger."®

In the Cochran-Beamish litigation, both sides seem to have respected the forum
implicitly, and to have soldiered on in spite of what seem to us heart-rending delays.
Given the importance of the interests at stake, one might have expected one or the other
of the parties to resort to extra-legal pressure tactics. As far as we know, they did not.
When the final decision arrived from London in 1820, the Cochrans accepted it with
dignity, with nary a whisper. As E.P. Thompson has said, the rule of law cannot be
sustained as an ideology unless the ruling class submits to its strictures at least some of
the time.*

This observation does not sit well with the assumptions often held about the
nature of the civil justice dispensed under the Family Compacts of British North America.
With its "dismayingly irrational” structures, its seemingly impenetrable technicalities and
its unattractive displays of bias and nepotism in the appointment process, it is easy to
think of colonial justice as a kind of joke. Yet the parties to the Market Wharf litigation

clearly did not regard it so. For them it was deadly serious, and essentially legitimate.

“8Nathaniel Whitworth White to Gideon White, 23 November 1815, White Papers,
MG 1, vol. 953, no. 1023.

“E P. Thompson, Whigs and Hunters (London: Allen Lane, 1975).



Chapter Three

Apprenticeship

What John Adams had observed as a law student in Boston in 1756 was just as
true in Regency Halifax. To get ahead in the law, one needed not only knowledge, time,
and a large collection of books, but most importantly, "the Friendship and Patronage of
the great Masters in the Profession."! Knowledge and time Murdoch possessed, and he
was in the process of acquiring a large library. When he began his five-year
apprenticeship as an attorney on 11 November 1814 with Crofton Uniacke, the second son
of Attorney General Richard John Uniacke, it seemed that he had found the best patron
Nova Scotia had to offer. The Uniacke law office was in a sense the nerve centre of the
Nova Scotian legal profession in the first third of the nineteenth century. Although the
principal role of a patron is to advance the material interests of the client, another role can
be that of mentor. This chapter considers the Uniackes’ "patronage" of Murdoch in this
latter sense. It is based on the premise that apprenticeship was not just the means of
reproducing the legal profession, but also a vehicle for the transmission of a legal
culture.’ The legal culture being transmitted in Murdoch’s case was Anglo-Irish, hence

a major part of this chapter will be devoted to an examination of that cuiture in Ireland

'Adams to Richard Cranch, 18 October 1756, as cited in Gordon Wood, The
Radicalism of the American Revolution (New York: A.A. Knopf, 1992), p. 74.

2Following the lead of social historians in employing concepts and insights derived
from anthropology {particularly through the work of Clifford Geertz), the phrase "legal
culture” has been used extensively in legal history in the last fifteen years. It is worth
noting that lay people as well as lawyers possess a legal culture, insofar as their own ideas
and behaviour regarding the law can be identified.
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itself in the eighteenth century.’ This perspective on Murdoch’s apprenticeship will show

incidentally that what is referred to as "the reception of English law” was by no means
a monolithic or uniform process.

Beamish Murdoch worked with almost every one of the Uniacke lawyers. When
Crofton was appointed judge of the Vice-Admiralty Court in October 1817, the remainder
of Murdoch’s term was assigned to the Attorney General himself. During this time
Murdoch would have worked alongside Crofton’s younger brothers. Called to the bar in
1810, Richard John, Jr. spent a few years as Attorney General of Cape Breton, which
remained a separate colony until 1820, before returning to Halifax to practise law about
1816. James Boyle and Robert Fitzgerald would both begin their apprenticeship in 1818
after graduating from King’s College. James Boyle Uniacke would be called to the bar
the year after Murdoch, in 1823, but then proceeded to study at the inns of court before
returning to Halifax. Robert Fitzgerald Uniacke experienced a conversion and abandoned
his legal career to prepare for receiving holy orders in the Anglican Church. Only the
oldest and youngest Uniacke brothers would not have been in the office during Murdoch’s
apprenticeship. Andrew Mitchell Uniacke, the late child of the Attorney General’s second

marriage, was a whole generation younger and would not begin his apprenticeship until

3This approach, which examines in a detailed way Old World and New World
linkages within a specific cultural group over time, has been used with some success by
social historians: see for example, Ian Ross Robertson, "Highlanders, Irishmen, and the
Land Question in Nineteenth-Century Prince Edward Island," in L.M. Cullen and T.C.
Smout, eds., Comparative Aspects of Scottish and Irish Economic and Social History,
1600-1900 (Edinburgh: Donald, 1977); Rusty Bittermann, "Agrarian Protest and Cultural
Transfer: Irish Immigrants and the Escheat Movement on Prince Edward Island,” in
Thomas P. Power, ed., The Irish in Atlantic Canada 1780-1900 (Fredericton: New Ireland
Press, 1991).
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1828. The eldest son, Norman Fitzgerald Uniacke, had trained in his father’s office and

been admitted to the Nova Scotia bar in 1798 before proceeding to England, where he
was admitted to the bar of Lincoln’s Inn in 1805. After some years as Attorney General
of Quebec, in 1819 he returned to Halifax for a two-year period of leave. It is likely that
Murdoch, with his lifelong interest in the law and culture of both Quebec and France,
would have had some interchange with him.*

There was at least one other student in the office around this time, namely George
Thesiger Solomon, who was called to the bar in 1820 and practised law in Lunenburg for
over fifty years. Other lawyers who had received their training in Uniacke’s office
included George Pyke, who was admitted in Nova Scotia in 1796 but proceeded to study
for the Quebec bar, and became an office-holder and judge of the court of King’s Bench
at Montreal; Henry Hezekiah Cogswell, an important figure in the formation of the Nova
Scotia Barristers’ Society; and the province’s first Roman Catholic lawyer, Lawrence

O’Connor Doyle, who was called to the bar in 1829. This record suggests that a study

“Biographical information on the Uniackes used in this chapter is drawn from the
following sources unless otherwise stated: Brian Cuthbertson, The Old Attorney General.
A Biography of Richard John Uniacke (Halifax: Nimbus, 1980); Dictionary of Canadian
Biography entries on Richard John Uniacke (1753-1830), Norman Fitzgerald Uniacke
(1777-1846), Richard John Uniacke, Jr. (1789-1834), Robert Fitzgerald Uniacke (1797-
1870), and James Boyle Uniacke (1800-1858). See also Brian Cuthbertson, ed., "Fatherly
Advice in Post-Loyalist Nova Scotia: Richard John Uniacke to his son Norman,"
Acadiensis 9:2 (1980), pp. 78; D.G. Bell, ed., "Richard John Uniacke’s Advice to a
Young Lawyer, 1797," Nova Scotia Historical Review 8:2 (1988), 136; [Barry Cahill],
"Attorney-General Uniacke’s Advice to a Young Lawyer, 1798," Nova Scotia Historical
Review 15:1 (1995), 127.
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of Murdoch’s apprenticeship experience has the potential to shed light upon the formation
of an important segment of the early nineteenth-century bar.’

Murdoch no doubt would have become known to Richard John Uniacke through
his representation of the Cochrans in the long-running Beamish-Cochran litigation, which
was entering the final stage of its Nova Scotian phase in 1814. At the time Murdoch
entered the Uniacke office the outcome of the suit was by no means certain. The
Uniackes must have been extraordinarily impressed with the probity of this young man,
whose family was in an adversarial relationship with a Uniacke client, to invite him to
apprentice with them. Likewise, Murdoch would have learned early in his career the
ability to place personal and professional concerns in totally separate compartments.

There were a number of reasons why the Uniackes offered this opportunity to the
young Murdoch. Gordon Wood has noted how the colonial New England gentry would
recruit new blood by seeking out quick young lads of lower status and raising them up
through a process of clientage or informal adoption.® All elites must do this to some
extent if they are concerned with preserving social stability. The legal profession had
long been an avenue for social mobility in the mother country, so much so that in
England and Ireland the attorney was allowed by long usage to employ the style of

gentility regardless of his actual social origins.” The attorney was styled "gentleman” in

SThe Dictionary of Canadian Biography contains entries on Pyke (1775-1851),
Cogswell (1776-1854), and Doyle (1804-1864).

$Wood, Radicalism of the American Revolution, pp. 74-77.

’Geoffrey Holmes, Augustan England: Professions, State and Society. 1680-1730
(London: George Allen & Unwin, 1982), p. 117.
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both kingdoms, the barrister "esquire”. In highly status conscious societies, this

concession was of considerable importance. In Nova Scotia, men invariably styled
themselves "esquire" upon their call to their bar. In the United States, meanwhile,
"esquire” rapidly fell into disuse after the Revolution.

Another connection between Murdoch and the Uniackes was their common Irish
heritage. The Anglo-Irish roots of the Beamish family in County Cork have been
explored in a previous chapter. Richard John Uniacke came from an old Anglo-Norman
family in the same county, one which had conformed to the Church of Ireland and
become part of the Protestant Ascendancy in the eighteenth century. The two families
had known generally of each other in Ireland, since the Uniackes and the senior branch
of the Beamish family both formed part of the landed gentry of County Cork, and both
sent M.P.’s to the Irish parliament. The ties of ethnicity, religion and region all

reinforced each other in this case.® The sorry plight of Murdoch’s parents and the

absence of any well-connected male relative on his part also lent an air of noblesse oblige
to the Uniackes’ gesture.

Before examining Murdoch’s apprenticeship experience, one must first confront
a certain stereotype prevalent in both the legal and the historical literatures. There is a
frequent assumption that apprenticeship was a form of professional education inherently
inferior to that provided by university education. Once university legal education had

been established as the ideal form of education for the bar, there was a good deal of

$Uniacke had also served as principal to Voster Lombard, whose parents had sent him
from County Cork to Halifax in 1783 expressly to apprentice with their countryman:
Bell, "Advice to a Young Lawyer, 1797," p. 138.
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retrospective denigration of the practice of apprenticeship, both from those with vested

interests in the perpetuation of university legal education, and from legal historians.’
Benjamin Russell, second in command at Dalhousie Law School for nearly fifty years,
said that if one had a busy principal he was too preoccupied to instruct the apprentice,
while if he was not busy, then he had nothing to teach. Even if Russell’s assessment had
some truth, it would apply only to the period with which he was familiar, the 1850s-70s,
and not to the much earlier period under review here.'°

David Bell has shown that in the case of the first two generations of Loyalist
lawyers in New Brunswick (c. 1784-1825), apprenticeship comprised much more than the
standard copying of pleadings and low-grade clerical functions. It included a demanding
reading program which began with English history, classical, English and French
literature, and legal philosophy, gradually introduced general legal works such as
Blackstone’s Commentaries and Hale’s History of the Common Law, and ended with the
more specialized tomes on civil procedure, evidence, and land law. When carried out
under the supervision of an engaged principal and with access to an adequate library,

apprenticeship could be an entirely appropriate form of preparation for the legal

Charles R. McKirdy, "The Lawyer as Apprentice: Legal Education in Eighteenth
Century Massachusetts,” Journal of Legal Education 28 (1976), pp. 124. Anton-Hermann
Chroust, The Rise of the Legal Profession in America (2 vols., Norman, Okla: University
of Oklahoma Press, 1965). This classic work on the history of the legal profession in the
United States virtually ignores apprenticeship as a key element in professional formation
during the antebellum period, while over-emphasizing the contribution of general and
specifically legal university education during the same period.

"Russell’s statement is quoted in John Willis, A History of Dalhousie Law School
(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1979) pp. 22-23.
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profession. Admittedly, neither of these desiderata was a given. At its best, however,
apprenticeship involved not just the transmission of legal knowledge and conventions but
also exposure to a broader set of values which can best be called legal culture. Legal
culture involves an appreciation of how law relates to other dominant discourses such as
religion, philosophy, politics and history, and an understanding of the values which a
particular set of legal arrangements seeks to foster and protect. When the dominant ideals
of the legal profession were those of the lawyer-statesman and the gentleman-scholar, a
broad approach to legal culture and to legal formation was obligatory. Such an approach
is clearly seen in Bell’s early New Brunswick lawyers."

New Brunswick’s Loyalist legal culture was much more unitary in its founding era
than that of Nova Scotia. Nova Scotia had not one but several legal cultures,
corresponding to the different populations who had come to inhabit the province.
Acadians, Planters, and Loyalists had brought their traditions with them, as had the

"Foreign Protestants" and the Irish."> Prior to the arrival of the Loyalists a common law

'"'D.G. Bell, Legal Education in New Brunswick, A History (Fredericton: University
of New Brunswick, 1992); "Paths to the Law in the Maritimes, 1810-1825: The Bliss
Brothers and their Circle," Nova Scotia Historical Review 8:2 (1988), p. 6.

'’The Acadian legal culture was not evident at a professional level, but had been
acknowledged by the Annapolis regime and survived at a popular level, even after the
deportation. See Jacques Vanderlinden, "A la rencontre de I’histoire du droit en Acadie,"
Revue de I’Université de Moncton 28 (1994), p- 47, and the remarkable constitution
drafted for the Acadians of Cape Sable by the Abbé Sigogne in 1799, reproduced in H.
Leander d’Entremont, "Father Jean Mandé Sigogne, 1799-1844," N.S.H.S. Collections 23
(1936), pp. 105-110; Thomas G. Barnes, "“The Dayly Cry for Justice’: The Juridical
Failure of the Annapolis Royal Regime, 1713-1749," in Philip Girard and Jim Phillips,
eds., Essays in the History of Canadian Law, vol. III, Nova Scotia (Toronto: University
of Toronto Press for the Osgoode Society, 1990). The survival of continental legal
traditions among the German and French-speaking populations on the South Shore has
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legal culture with an Anglo-Irish inflection was dominant, thanks to the presence of

certain key figures in the legal hierarchy. Chief Justice Jonathan Belcher (1754-1776) was
raised in Massachusetts but came to Halifax after twelve years at the bar in Dublin, where
he had co-edited an enormous and scholarly Abridgment of the Statutes of Ireland
(Dublin, 1754). Dubliner Richard Bulkeley, although not a lawyer, was in a position to
influence the development of legal institutions through his role as Provincial Secretary
(1766-1792) and Master of the Rolls in the Court of Chancery (1782-1800). Chief Justice
Bryan Finucane (1776-1785) also hailed from Ireland, and was instrumental in having his
countryman Richard John Uniacke appointed solicitor general of Nova Scotia only four
years after he had been arrested on suspicion of treason for his role in the Cumberland
rebellion of 1776."* Another Irishman, John Parr, was governor (1782-86) and

lieutenant-governor (1786-91). It was during his tenure that the Irish form of foreclosure

been as littled studied as their juridical acculturation, although a beginning is made in
Kenneth Paulsen, "Land, Family and Inheritance in Lunenburg Township, Nova Scotia,
1760-1800," in Margaret Conrad, ed., Intimate Relations: Family and Community in
Planter Nova Scotia, 1759-1800 (Fredericton: Acadiensis Press, 1995).

13Belcher (1710 -1776) and Bulkeley (1717-1800) can both be found in the Dictionary
of Canadian Biography. Bulkeley’s role as master of the rolls is treated in some detail
in Barry Cahill, "From Imperium to Colony: Reinventing a Metropolitan Legal Institution
in Late Eighteenth-Century Nova Scotia," in Donald W. Nichol, Iona Bulgin, Sandra
Hannaford and David Wilson, eds.,, TransAtlantic Crossings: Eighteenth-Cen
Explorations (St. John’s: Memorial University of Newfoundland, 1995). On Finucane,
see Barry Cahill, "‘Fide et fortitudine vivo’: The Career of Chief Justice Bryan
Finucane," Collections of the Nova Scotia Historical Society 42 (1986), p. 153.
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and sale was adopted in the Court of Chancery. This process was quite different from the

English, and survives to this day in Nova Scotia."*

Popular myth has tended to celebrate the Scots as the real builders of the British
Empire. Yet historical fact would confirm that the Anglo-Irish could with some justice
lay claim to that title. Ireland was, long before Newfoundiand, the "first colony," and the
Anglo-Irish were its colonizers. From an early date they faced the same problems as the
North American settlers, and indeed saw themselves as engaged in a similar enterprise."
How to deal with recalcitrant local populations whose land they desired? How to extend
English law and institutions and replicate English life in a new terrain? When the Anglo-
Irish in turn emigrated, they took with them this experience of governance, which had
depended for its success on the suppression of Gaelic law by English common law. For
if there is one indisputable legacy, aside from the English language, which the Anglo-Irish
have bequeathed to modern-day Ireland, it is the common law.

Richard John Uniacke was the most conspicuous representative of Anglo-Irish legal
culture in Nova Scotia after the death of Chief Justice Bryan Finucane. Uniacke spent
most of his adult life in Nova Scotia, but he had first trained as an attorney in Dublin in

the 1770s, at a particularly agitated time in Irish legal and constitutional history. Some

1“Under the English form of foreclosure, the creditor could either sue the debtor on
the mortgage covenant and leave the debtor with the land, or take the land itself in
satisfaction of the debt. Under Irish practice, the creditor could arrange for a sale by
auction of the debtor’s interest in the land, and sue the debtor for any deficiency if the
sale did not produce enough to satisfy the mortgage debt.

'5Nicholas Canny, "Identity Formation in Ireland: The Emergence of the Anglo-
Irish," in Nicholas Canny and Anthony Pagden, eds., Colonial Identity in the Atlantic
World, 1500-1800 (Princeton University Press, 1987), pp. 159-60.
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attempt to understand his first legal career in Ireland must be made if his contribution to

Murdoch’s formation and, more generally, to provincial legal culture is to be appreciated.
This can be done by setting the few known facts about Uniacke’s Irish career in the
context of developments within Irish law and the Irish legal profession in the last third
of the eighteenth century.

Uniacke acquired his legal training at a time when serious efforts were being made
to raise the professional standards of attorneys and the educational attainments of
barristers. Those same years in Dublin saw the rapid growth of an unprecedented liberal
nationalist movement within a segment of the Protestant Ascendancy, culminating in the
recognition by Westminster of the legislative supremacy of the Irish parliament in 1782.
In this agitation, which included a campaign to remove or at least reduce the effect of the
pernicious penal laws aimed at Catholics, lawyers played no small part. Even if
Uniacke’s political views later took a more conservative turn, his legal worldview
remained permeated by the Enlightenment values which he had absorbed in those days
in Dublin before the French Revolution. The Uniackes would become champions of
Catholic relief and liberalization of the debt laws, and unalterably opposed to slavery.

It is not known why Uniacke’s father apprenticed him to Dublin attorney Thomas
Garde in 1769, rather than launching him on a course for the more prestigious call to the
bar.' What is known is that father and son were already at loggerheads. It may be that

Norman Uniacke could countenance his headstrong son’s presence under some type of

On the distinction between the two branches of the legal profession, see the next
chapter.
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supervision in Dublin, when he could not tolerate his being at large in London for the

period of attendance at the inns of court then required of Irish barristers. Garde himself
had been admitted an attorney in 1760, and would practice his profession in Dublin until
his death in 1808. He came from a gentry background similar to that of the Uniackes,
in County Cork and neighbouring County Waterford, and was involved to some extent in
their legal affairs.'” By indenture dated 4 October 1769, Uniacke "put himself
an app